
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Caroline Denyer
Telephone: 01706 924711
Date: Tuesday, 26 July 2016

Dear Councillor

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Middleton Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Middleton Arena - LCpl Joel Halliwell VC Way, 
Middleton,  Manchester M24 1AG on Wednesday, 3rd  August 2016 
commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

A site visit has been arranged for members of the Sub-Committee as follows:-
16:30     Langley Lane and Hollin Lane (meet at Hollin Drive)

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2016/17
Councillor Andy Bell
Councillor Malcolm Boriss
Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Susan Smith
Councillor June West
Councillor Donna Williams

Public Document Pack



Rochdale Borough Council

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 3rd August 2016 at 6.15 pm

Middleton Arena - LCpl Joel Halliwell VC Way, Middleton,  
Manchester M24 1AG

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 4 - 5

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 6th July 2016. 

3.  Submitted Planning Applications 6 - 108

4.  Planning Appeals 

i) Notification that the following appeals have been lodged:-

• 15/01315/HOUS – 19 Chale Drive, Middleton (East Middleton 
Ward) – Delegated decision

ii)  Notification that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

• None

ii) Notification that the following appeals have been allowed:-

• None



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 6 July 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Burke (Chair); Councillors Boriss, Rowbotham, Smith and 
Donna Williams

OFFICERS:  J. Groves and M. Woodward (Economy Directorate) and A. James 
(Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  approximately 6 members of the public

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Bell and Councillor West

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
46 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
47 DECIDED – that the Minutes of the meeting of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 17th May 2016 be approved as a correct 
record.

ERECTION OF CANOPY OVER EXISTING LOADING BAY ON FRONT 
ELEVATION - HANSON POINT, HANSON CLOSE INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, 
HANSON CLOSE, MIDDLETON
48 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00112/FUL for the erection of a canopy over the existing loading bay on the front 
elevation at Hanson Point, Hanson Close Industrial Estate, Hanson Close Middleton.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of two local residents who were objecting 
to the submitted planning application. The applicant was not present.

DECIDED – that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
outlined within the submitted report.

ERECTION OF 50 DWELLINGS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS - FORMER 
ALDERMAN KAY SCHOOL, TINTERN ROAD, MIDDLETON
49 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00129/FUL for the erection of 50 dwellings and associated works at the former 
Alderman Kay School, Tintern Road, Middleton.

The Senior Planning Officer provided the following update in relation to the submitted 
planning application:-

 A flood assessment was required and had been submitted with no objections 
from the Environment Agency;

 A kissing gate would be provided on the northern boundary of the site in order 
to link with proposed improvements and a new footpath to be provided by the 
Council;

 Comments from the Council’s surveyor were awaited in respect of the viability 
appraisal and the report had been written on the assumption that the viability 
appraisal was acceptable and that the developer cannot provide any financial 
contributions as mitigation.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



The agent for the applicant addressed the Sub-Committee in support of the 
application. No objectors were present.

In considering the submitted planning application, Members of the Sub-Committee 
requested that further details relating to the possibility of developer contributions for 
school places and also relating to boundary treatments, especially for those areas 
adjacent to boundaries of differing heights be presented to the Planning and 
Licensing Committee for consideration.

DECIDED – that the Planning and Licensing Committee be informed that the 
Sub-Committee would be minded to grant planning permission subject to the 
conditions outlined within the submitted report.

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE AND REPLACE WITH TWO BEDROOM 
BUNGALOW - 194 HEYWOOD OLD ROAD MIDDLETON M24 4GR
50 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00331/FUL for the demolition of an existing garage to be replaced with a two 
bedroom bungalow at 194 Heywood Old Road, Middleton M24 4GR.

The Senior Planning Officer provided the following update in relation to the submitted 
planning application:-

 The Willow Tree was in an adjacent property not the applicant’s garden – tree 
protection measures were still required as detailed within the submitted 
report.

 Some of the measurements in the report needed correcting – the proposed 
rear garden would be 11m in length; the rear garden for the occupants of 194 
Heywood Old Road would be 30m in length; the proposed dwelling would be 
42m from the nearest rear elevations of the properties on Heywood Old Road.

The applicant addressed the Sub-Committee. No objectors were present.

DECIDED – that the Planning and Licencing Committee be informed that the 
Sub-Committee would be minded to grant planning permission subject to the 
conditions outlined within the submitted report.

PLANNING APPEALS
51 The Director of Economy reported that the following planning appeals had 
been:- 
i) Lodged

16/00210/FUL – 268 Manchester New Road - Demolition of existing dwelling 
and erection of new detached dwelling (South Middleton) – Delegated 
Decision.

ii) Allowed
15/01442/HOUS – 36 Wellens Way - Demolition of garage and erection of two 
storey side extension (South Middleton) – Delegated Decision.

DECIDED – that the planning appeals be noted.

Page 5



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:   Middleton Township Planning 
Committee

Date:         3 August 2016   

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 
consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which may 
affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 
following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 
provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report.

    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 
relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 
have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to in 
the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 
Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code in 
discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf of 
the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an open 
and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 
Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 
their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material planning 
considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 
characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil Partnership, 
Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, 
socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 
decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all 
opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 
planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 

Page 7



local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 
land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning merits 
of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval and that 
such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the 
Town and Country Planning Acts.

Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on this agenda 
will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with scaled 
drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have been consulted or 
commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received and of 

relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the application 
file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports on planning 
applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of relevance to the 
recommendation and/or determination of any submitted planning applications or related 
consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

Page 8

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 16/00444/OUT    Ward: West Middleton      

Proposal: Outline planning application (all matters reserved except for access) for up to 
65 residential units (Use Class C3) with associated landscaping, open space, access 
arrangements and car parking.

Site Address: Land West Of Hollin Lane Middleton Manchester M24 5LF 

Applicant: Ms Kate McClean
                  Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION 

The application represents a Departure from the Development Plan.  The application has also 
received more than 4 objections and is therefore, referred to Middleton Township Planning Sub-
Committee before being referred to Planning and Licensing Committee for final determination.

SITE

Page 9



The application site relates to a circa 2.4 hectare area of land located to the west side of Hollin 
Lane within an area of open countryside.  The side is within a wider area allocated as Protected 
Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) which encompasses a large 
swathe of land running to the north of Langley Lane which lies to the south.  Immediately to the 
north lies a large expanse of Green Belt land.  The application site is located approximately 2km 
to the north of Middleton town centre, immediately adjacent to the residential area of Langley and 
is approximately 1km to the south of junction 19 of the M62 motorway.

Immediately to the south of the site lies an area of open land which is the subject of a planning 
application for 94 dwellings (ref – 16/00725/OUT).  This land also comprises an area of open 
countryside, albeit that this area of land abuts an established residential area comprising a mix of 
post-war semi’ and terraced housing.  The application site lies 20m from the nearest dwelling 
which lies on Hollin Lane, and approximately 170m to the north of the wider housing stock which 
sits to the south of Langley Lane.  

The site is within walking distance of a number of community services, including St Anne’s 
Academy, Hollin Primary School, Burnside Pre-School, Middleton Cricket Club and the 
Gardeners Arms Public House and shopping parade at the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley 
Lane. There are a number of bus stops with regular and direct services to Middleton, Heywood, 
Rochdale and Manchester in close proximity. 

The application site itself comprises agricultural land leftover to pasture. The site comprises 
undulating ground and is relatively open with limited tree cover with some younger specimens 
and the remnants of hedgerows along the boundaries.  In particular, the land rises up on its 
eastern boundary where it meets Hollin Lane which means that the site sits on a lower level when 
viewed from Hollin Lane. The site is bounded by residential development on Hollin Drive, Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane. There are open fields beyond the northern boundary of the site and to 
the western boundary. There is a public right of way that lies approximately 100m to the west of 
the site and this extends in a north-south direction. 

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 65 dwellings on land to the 
west of Hollin Lane, Middleton. The application seeks approval of access only, with the layout, 
scale, landscaping and external appearance of the buildings being reserved for a later stage. 

A single access point to the site is proposed from the west side of Hollin Lane, approximately 
65m to the north of the Hollin Lane Hazelhurst Drive junction.  Detailed plans have been 
submitted which show that the access would slope up from the site to Hollin Lane at a maximum 
gradient of 1:12.  Access and egree would be via a new priority controlled T-junction directly off 
Hollin Lane.  The proposed junction lies to the south of the consented Hollin Lane east 
residential development (15/01183/OUT).  

The access would include a right turn ghost island lane catering for approximately five vehicles, 
to prevent blocking of through-traffic movements on Hollin Lane. This junction arrangement can 
be accommodated within the existing width of Hollin Lane, without the need for widening 
providing suitable lane widths and is located within the 30mph section of Hollin Lane.  In addition 
to the main spine road through the site, the masterplan shows a series of lower category roads, 
shared driveways and private drives to serve the residential dwellings.  The scheme would also 
include the potential for a vehicular link to the south in order to link in with a residential scheme 
for up to 94 dwellings (ref - 16/00725/OUT). This application is currently under consideration.

The application submission sets a maximum parameter with respect to the number of dwellings 
(up to 65) and with regards to their scale it is indicated that the proposed development would 
provide a range of two, three, four and five bedroom units. Properties would mainly comprise 2 

Page 10



storeys in height with a smaller number of 2.5 storey units.  The indicative masterplan also 
indicates the provision of a small area of landscaping and public open space in the centre of the 
site and along the norther and eastern perimeters.  In respect of design, it is intended that 
buildings would comprise red brick with contrasting brick or reconstituted stone headers and 
cills.  Cream rendered facades and other architectural detailing may also be included to add an 
element of interest.

The submitted indicative masterplan is for indicative purposes only, with access being the only 
reserved matter applied for. The matter of access is defined in the appropriate Development 
Management Procedure Order to mean “the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, 
cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes 
and how these fit into the surrounding access network.” The layout of the buildings and open 
spaces is for illustrative purposes only.

The application includes the following to be secured through the completion of a section 106 
planning obligation and a section 278 Highways Act agreement as follows

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £200,200.17 for up to 65 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £100,100.65 for up to 65 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields calculated by way of either a) £929.16 per dwelling or b) £386.86 
per person of the population of the development based on ONS Census Figure of people 
per dwelling for Rochdale at the time of commencement (current calculation of up to 
£60,350.16);

 A financial contribution towards a Bus Stops on Hollin Lane;
 The provision of a right turning lane into the site; 
 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); 
 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site; and
 A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising 

new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application is being considered alongside another application, by a separate applicant, on 
adjacent land which lies to the south of the site. The proposal involves up to 94 dwellings with 
access to the taken off Hollin Lane (16/00725/OUT).  Immediately to the south of the application 
site is a proposal for a residential development of 94 dwellings (16/00725/OUT) which is 
currently under consideration.  Previous applications on the same site have been refused 
planning permission.  

The first relates to land to the north of Langley Lane (application reference 15/01195/OUT) for 
the erection of up to 150 dwellings, a potential primary school, and associated landscaping, 
open space, access arrangements and car parking and the land the subject of that application 
adjoins the application site to the west. The second relates to land on the eastern side of Hollin 
Lane (planning application reference no. 15/01183/OUT) for the erection of up to 205 dwellings 
and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking. These two 
applications were submitted by a different applicant and the Council’s Planning and Licensing 

Page 11



Committee at its meeting on 12th January 2016 resolved to grant planning permission, subject to 
Legal Agreements for each of the respective sites.  The signing of the Legal Agreements for 
both of these sites is imminent.  

In terms of the current application, the only matter to be considered in detail as part of this 
planning application is ‘access’, which would be taken from Hollin Lane to the east of the 
application site.  Planning applications 15/01183/OUT and 15/01195/OUT were accompanied 
by a plan indicating the ‘Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’.  

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in 2013 and hearing sessions were held by 
the Inspector to consider the ‘soundness’ of the plan in October of that year.  Following on from 
these sessions the Inspector asked the Council to provide an update of its Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment in order for him to properly consider the housing issues, including the 
housing target, set out in the plan.  This update was carried out and the examination reconvened 
in June 2015 to consider this updated evidence.  The Council has now received a schedule of 
proposed Main Modifications from the Inspector which include recommendations on changes to 
the wording and content of some of the policies in the emerging Core Strategy. These 
recommended main modifications are currently being consulted on.  It is considered that 
policies not affected by proposed modifications can carry significant weight in decision making.  
Those policies which are subject to proposed modifications are likely to carry less weight at this 
point but may, as modified, have some relevance in the decision making process.  It is 
anticipated that the Core Strategy will be adopted in summer 2016.

The following policies contained in the emerging Rochdale Core Strategy are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being

Page 12



C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage

Page 13



BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPD (2016)
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

No previous history relating to this site.   

PUBLICITY

Site Notice: Major Application, Departure from the Development Plan. Date Displayed: 19th 
May 2016.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - Comments to be reported as an update to the Township planning 
sub-committee.

Highways England:-  Having given the application due consideration we can inform you that 
Highways England would not wish to raise any in-principle objection to this application. 
However, should your council grant consent to this application, Highways England would 
recommend that the attached conditions be adhered to:

No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use unless and until a 
detailed travel plan is submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in 
consultation with Highways England, and all approved measures have been implemented 
accordingly. 

Coal Authority: - Comments as follows:

Page 14



 The application site does not fall with the defined Development High Risk Area and is 
located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. This means that there is 
no requirement under the risk-based approach that has been agreed with the LPA for a 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted or for The Coal Authority to be consulted. 
In accordance with the agreed approach to assessing coal mining risks as part of the 
development management process, if this proposal is granted planning permission, it will 
be necessary to include The Coal Authority’s Standing Advice within the Decision Notice 
as an informative note to the applicant in the interests of public health and safety.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:
 The application site lies within two Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) one for coal and 

the other brick clay. Policy 8 of the Minerals Plan states “all non-mineral development 
proposals within the Mineral Safeguarding area should extract any viable mineral 
resources present in advance of construction.... provided the proposal is in accordance 
with Policy 2 Key planning and Environmental Criteria.”

 The proposed development will sterilise any coal or brick clay reserves which may exist 
under site. We recommend that the applicant is made aware of the reserves at site and 
Policy 8 of the Minerals Plan.

 Policy 8 states that
Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; Or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development 
taking place; or;

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; 
or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals 
extraction taking place in the future.

 The applicant has submitted a Planning Design and Access Statement dated March 
2015 which states that Rochdale currently does not have a 5 year housing supply. They 
argue that this development is therefore required to help meet housing demand within 
Rochdale.

 If the Council is in agreement with this position then they may consider permitting the 
development under bullet point 1 of Policy 8, as the development could be considered to 
outweigh the need for extraction.

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development 
take place.

Environment Agency: - No comments received.  

United Utilities (UU): - No comments received.

Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No comments received.  

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
 The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access for 
the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

 The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all points 
within the dwellings. 

 The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 

Page 15



tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

 There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.
 The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 

positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider the 
viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems.  

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS):- Having considered the 
archaeological desk-based assessment supplied with the application I am satisfied that the 
proposed development does not threaten the known or suspected archaeological heritage. The 
report does recommend that a condition requiring an archaeological watching brief be 
undertaken be attached to the planning consent. However, GMAAS is not convinced that such a 
measure is necessary.  On this basis there is no reason to seek to impose any archaeological 
requirements upon the applicant.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No comments received.  

Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:

The lack of comment from Natural England does not imply that there are no impacts on the 
natural environment, but only that the application is not likely to result in significant impacts on 
statutory designated nature conservation sites or landscapes.  It is for the local planning 
authority to determine whether or not this application is consistent with national and local 
policies on the natural environment.  Other bodies and individuals may be able to provide 
information and advice on the environmental value of this site and the impacts of the proposal to 
assist the decision making process. We advise LPAs to obtain specialist ecological or other 
environmental advice when determining the environmental impacts of development.  This 
application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and bring 
benefits for the local community, for example through green space provision and access to and 
contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated 
sensitivity and capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new 
development and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form and 
location, to the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any unacceptable impacts.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU):- No objection.  The site was assessed for protected 
species and regarded as low risk for all species.  We accepted the finding of these assessments 
previously.   These surveys are however now becoming out of date having occurred primarily in 
2014.  As part of any reserved matters application we would now expect complete updates for 
bats, badger and great crested newts.  This should also include invasive species and breeding 
birds.

Evidence of low numbers of bats utilising linear features on the site was demonstrated.  These 
features will largely be retained.  There is however the potential for indirect impacts resulting 
from external lighting.   Please condition an external lighting strategy (assuming street lighting is 
proposed) along the following lines. 

Prior to development a ‘lighting design strategy’ for the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.  The strategy shall:

 Identify areas/features on site that are potentially sensitive to lighting for bats 
and;

Page 16



 show how and where the external lighting will be installed  (through appropriate 
lighting contour plans) 

so that it can be demonstrated clearly that any impacts on bats are negligible.  All external 
lighting shall be installed in accordance with agreed specifications and locations set out in the 
strategy.

Reason – Neighbouring development demonstrated that the hedgerows around the 
development provided commuting habitat for common pipistrelle including the western 
boundary of this development which is contiguous with this development and the southern 
boundary of this site which was surveyed by the adjacent developer.

Breeding Birds

No breeding bird survey was provided for this site but the site was assessed as low value.  
Some potential bird nesting habitat will be lost.  All British birds nests and eggs (with certain 
limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended.  Please apply a condition along the following lines.  

No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any year 
unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out 
immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are 
present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

Invasive Species

No reference is made within the document to invasive species.  The neighbouring development 
identified Himalayan balsam along the Whittle Brook.  This is a highly mobile species and could 
have spread in to the boundary hedgerow over the last couple of years.  Please apply the 
following condition to any permission.

Prior to any earthworks a survey for invasive plant species including japanese knotweed and 
himalayan balsam will occur and the finding supplied to and agreed in writing to the LPA.  If any 
invasive species are present a method statement detailing avoidance, control and eradication 
measures should also be supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA, prior to any earthworks.

Habitat Loss and Landscaping

The development site covers approximately 2.4ha of generally low value ecological habitats, 
farmland, with moderate value habitats associated with the hedgerows.  The scale of the 
development and the cumulative impact with adjacent sites  however is such that despite the 
low value of the majority of the site, mitigation should be provided in order to comply with 
guidance within the NPPF  that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the 
natural Environment. I would expect a minimum of 0.3ha of high value habitat to be created on-
site.

I note that green corridors is being provided through the site and along the eastern boundary 
and that this links to the adjacent development to the SW providing the potential to provide the 
amount of ecological mitigation I would like to occur on-site.  As this is outline I am therefore 
happy for the detail to be conditioned along the following lines.   

Page 17



No development shall take place until an ecological mitigation strategy been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.  The content of the mitigation strategy shall include:

a) Provision of around 0.3ha of retained and enhanced semi-natural habitat

b) Mitigation  and enhancement of hedgerow and habitat connectivity 

c) Mitigation for loss of grassland

d) Linkage of ecological mitigation with the landscaping of the adjacent development

e) Mitigation for loss of bird nesting habitat 

f) Timing of works 

g) Maintenance

h) Monitoring

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.

Public Rights Of Way – No objection. There are no public rights of way across the land proposed 
to be developed - the nearest PROW is Mid Rupp 114 which is to the west of that land. 
Obviously, this right of way must remain free and unobstructed throughout the course of any 
development.

Rochdale Group of Ramblers: - Object.  The Ramblers, Rochdale Group would object to any 
such application. This is one of the remaining green spaces in the area and has a good rights of 
way network used by locals for exercise and recreation. There are many brown field sites in 
Middleton which should be used. To our knowledge other recent applications to develop land in 
this area have failed and we consider nothing has changed.

Schools Service: - No objections. Whilst no comments have been received in respect of the 
current application, Education have asked for the previous comments relating to schemes within 
the wider masterplan area to be considered in this application:
 In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, I have considered the school 

place availability for the Middleton Township as a whole, rather than a 2 mile or 3 mile 
walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This is because it 
references our place planning areas, and makes overall sense in meeting school place 
demand. The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional places will be provided to 
meet current projected demand.

 Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for admission in 
2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the Local Authority 
will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a margin for preference 
and movement. This shows there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of 
the additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

 Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018, 
above those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, parents 
Diocesan Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The proposals for 2016, 
2017 and 2018 are to:

(i) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

Page 18



(ii) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review)

 To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period to 
2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from September 
2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from September 2017 
onwards although how these will be provided is yet to be determined. This would meet 
the current expected demand, although this will be kept under review

 The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula on the whole development (88 
houses) is 22 primary places (3 per year group) and 9 secondary places (2 per year 
group) applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 3 children 
per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also be an 
expected 2 children per year group post 16.

 Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in the 
Township for both primary and secondary sectors as follows:  

 For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing 
primary school:  65 dwellings x 0.25 =16.25 children x £12,320.01 = £200,200.16

 For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools: 65  dwellings x 0.1 =6.5 children x £15,400.01 = £100,100.07 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No comments received.

Strategic Planning Service: - 

This application seeks outline permission for a residential development of up to 65 dwellings 
with associated infrastructure on land to the west of Hollin Lane, north of Middleton. The 
submission is part of wider proposals (referred to as the “Hollin Lane Masterplan Area”), much of 
which already has outline planning consent, incorporating development both west and east of 
Hollin Lane and south to Langley Lane (up to 355 dwellings). A further application for up to 88 
dwellings on land to the south of this proposal is subject to an ongoing planning appeal.

Air Quality

The site is partially located within a Greater Manchester Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
due to potential exceedances of the Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Air Quality Objective and therefore 
there are concerns that the development’s construction phase has the potential to cause air 
quality impacts to nearby sensitive receptor locations. An Air Quality Assessment was therefore 
required to determine baseline conditions, assess the location’s suitability for residential use 
and consider the potential air quality impact of the proposal. This has been carried out and 
submitted.

The Air Quality Assessment indicated that during the construction phase, risk from dust to 
human health is low. The area surrounding the site however has been identified as having a 
medium risk of dust soiling during earthworks and construction and a high risk from vehicle 
trackout. In the light of this, to achieve best practice, a “Construction Environmental 
Management Plan” compliant with the Institute of Air Quality Management “Guidance on the 
Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction” is required to be prepared and 
implemented. The actions identified in that plan are expected to reduce the impact of dust 
generating activities to “not significant”. 
When the development is operational its impact on current NO2 and PM10 levels are assessed 
as negligible, with the maximum increase for any sensitive receptor of 0.5%) for either pollutant 
and therefore well within the Air Quality Objectives for each pollutant. Of the 21 sites assessed 
in the Air Quality Assessment, three of them exceeded the NO2 objective of 40µgm-1 both with 
and without the development. The proposal had almost no impact on these, as the sites are 

Page 19



close to the M62 and at the junction of Hollin Lane and Rochdale Road, some distance from the 
proposed development site and located where existing road traffic has a dominant influence on 
air quality. In the light of this the operational impact of the development is negligible.

Public Rights of Way

The proposed development site is close to a number of restricted byways which are part of the 
Borough’s Definitive Rights of Way Network. MidRupp114 runs to the west of the site and 
parallel to the western boundary of the Wainhomes site located to the south, and provides 
pedestrian access to Langley Lane and north over the M62 to Hareshill Road. MidRupp117 and 
MidRupp118 end across Hollin Lane from the site, with MidRupp117 heading east and 
MidRupp118, heading north. It is expected that the pedestrian network serving the development 
will link to these as indicated in the application submission. The existing condition of the Rights 
of Way at minimum should be protected during the earthworks and construction phases should 
approval be granted.

Principle of Development – Conclusion

There are no Public Rights of Way or Air Quality grounds that prevent this development from 
being approved, providing amelioration of dirt and dust generated from the site during 
earthworks and construction and impact on existing residences nearby is minimised. To ensure 
this a condition in any planning approval should require a “Dust Mitigation Plan” to be prepared 
either separately or incorporated into a more wide ranging “Construction Environmental 
Management Plan” proposed by the applicant incorporating the measures set out in Table 20, 
Page 23-24 of the Air Quality Assessment dated 1st April 2016.

A condition is also required to ensure the protection / reinstatement of the Definitive Rights of 
Way network serving the site, in particular MidRupp114 which runs along the western edge of 
the site, to its current integrity or better.

GM Crime Prevention – The proposed development should be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the recommendations contained within section 3.2 of the attached Preliminary 
Crime Impact Statement dated (29/04/2016 – URN: 2016/0272/CIS/01 Version A). A full Crime 
Impact Statement should be produced for the reserved matters planning application. 

In summary, this application is supported subject to further consideration of the above matters.

Officer comments – This could be conditioned as a requirement for submission and 
consideration at Reserved Matters stage.

Sport England: - The proposed development is not considered to fall either within our statutory 
remit (Statutory Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit (National Planning Policy 
Guidance Par. 003 Ref. ID: 37-003-20140306) upon which we would wish to comment, 
therefore Sport England has not provided a detailed response.  

General guidance and advice can however be found on our website:

http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/development-
management/planning-applications/ 

If the proposal involves the loss of any sports facility then full consideration should be given to 
whether the proposal meets Par. 74 of National Planning Policy Framework, is in accordance 
with local policies to protect social infrastructure and any approved Playing Pitch Strategy or 
Built Sports Facility Strategy that the local authority has in place.

Page 20



If the proposal involves the provision of a new sports facility then consideration should be given 
to the recommendations and priorities set out in any approved Playing Pitch Strategy or Built 
Sports Facility Strategy that the local authority may have in place.  In addition such facilities, to 
ensure they are fit for purpose, should be designed in accordance with Sport England, or the 
relevant National Governing Body, design guidance notes: 

http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/ 

If the proposal involves the provision of additional housing (<300 units) then, if existing sports 
facilities do not have the capacity to absorb that additional demand, new sports facilities should 
be secured and delivered in accordance with any approved local policy for social infrastructure, 
local standards and/or priorities set out in any Playing Pitch Strategy or Built Sports Facility 
Strategy that the local authority has in place.

Waste Management – No objection.

There are similar issues to more recent planning applications in relation to round layout and 
access to collect waste and recycling.

Weekly access to collect at least 2 of the properties bins is required by 26 tonne Refuse 
compaction vehicles RCV's.

The large number of reversing points means that there is a potential for Health and safety issues 
whilst revering for our crews and residents and the removal of said reversing points would be 
beneficial to both waste collection crews and residents.

Alternatively the addition of hammer head turning points or turning circles could be included with 
parking restrictions if necessary.  If no changes to the road network are made it may mean that 
In some cases residents may be inconvenienced by having to bring their bins to approved 
collection points away from their properties.

The application makes reference to "Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation 
which in the case of large RCV's is not the case.  There is also the reference to narrow 
secondary roads which will cause more problems especially when inconsiderate parkin by 
residents causes further issues.  Help and guidance on these and other issues can be found in 
the new Recycling and refuse collection service , A design guide for developers!

I feel that more consideration of the service providers requirements to residential properties 
should be considered and road networks and access to properties for our waste vehicles and 
also emergency vehicles would be an improvement.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development and is a departure from the 
UDP, notices have also been posted on the site and in the local press. A total of 63 letters have 
been received from individual properties in objection to the application.  The letters received are 
a mix of individual letters and pro-forma type responses.

The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised as 
follows:

Objection

Page 21



The application doesn’t meet a single one of the key criteria identified in RMBC’s own UDP, 
specifically policy D/10 on the ‘Safeguarding of Protected Open Land’.  There is no proven need 
for this development as the application has declined by over 2000 people according to the 2011 
Census.  There are already 800 houses for sale in the Middleton area.

Developing the land in question will remove its amenity to the Middleton and Heywood 
population who use it for health, recreational and equestrian purposes, contravening the Greater 
Manchester health and wellbeing legislation to which RMBC is a signatory.  Part of that 
legislation mandates that areas of social and urban deprivation, into which Langley and Hollin 
estates fall, are required to be provided with greenspaces for wellbeing and amenity.  
Developing them will remove that ability.

Officer Response

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land.  It is also accepted 
that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land valued by the local 
community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe. However, officers 
are of the view that the harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. As such, there are no 
sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission on these grounds.

A full assessment of housing ‘need’ is detailed in the remained of this report.  However, in short, 
in order to meet housing targets going forwards will require a significant uplift in the current rate 
of delivery of new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will 
be needed to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure 
housing needs are met.

Objection:
The neutral letter states that the pumping station is indicated to be located over a culvert and 
well, which serves Langley Lane Farm and this could be detrimental to the ecology of the farm 
land and water way.  

Officer Response:

The proposed layout is indicative at present as the application is outline with access only - the 
detailed layout is reserved for subsequent approval.  The comments have been provided to the 
applicant and conditions are recommended requiring the submission of a detailed drainage 
scheme prior to commencement.  Any rights and covenants relating to the culvert and well are 
civil matters.  

Objection:
Green Belt land should be protected from developers wanting to make a profit.  There has been 
no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous applications and the dismissal of an 
appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision should be reached. The site performs the 
same function as the Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

Officer Response:
The application site is not located within the Green Belt, but located within an area designated 
as Protected Open Land within the UDP. The role and function of Protected Open Land is not 
the same as the Green Belt, which is protected for its intrinsic permanence and openness. Each 
application will be determined on its own merits having regards to the balance of material 
considerations at that time. Since the appeal that was determined in 1985 there has been a 
significant shift in planning policy through the introduction of the NPPF.  The policy emphasis in 
the NPPF upon the provision of housing to meet objectively assessed needs is a significant 
change in national policy and requires local planning authorities to ‘boost significantly’ the 

Page 22



supply of housing (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) where there has been a record of persistent 
under delivery of housing.  

Objection:
There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The Council’s 
own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 new properties 
throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target without any need to 
build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down by government) to 
construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the borough and is currently the 
only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its building quota. Recent 
applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) have allowed the construction 
of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type proposed are already freely 
available on the market and those already for sale are currently struggling to sell. Therefore, 
there is no justifiable need for further housing within the borough at the present time, and 
certainly not within the countryside.

Officer Response:
The Council has no adopted housing target as the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing 
supply. Therefore, the application needs to be determined having regard to the tests set out in 
the UDP and taking into account national policy and guidance. Notwithstanding the above, 
looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular issues faced within the Borough in 
terms of delivery of new homes, and the recent background of removals and demolition of 
housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. Indeed between 2003/4 
and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. As a result during 
the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 
dwellings per year.  The Borough will face an ongoing pressure in terms of delivery against plan 
targets over the next few years given significant number of existing units are planned to be 
demolished as part of the regeneration of existing housing areas.

Objection:

The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, will 
detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will diminish 
the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational and sporting purposes through the loss of 
green pastures and removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including 
removing this benefit for future generations).  The development of this area of Protected Open 
Land would see the effective merging of Middleton and Heywood and an associated 12 mile 
long urban sprawl between Manchester and Bamford. The land has been left open for centuries 
and designated as Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to provide a green buffer 
between the two towns. The release of the land for housing would set a precedent allowing the 
development of additional, adjoining land in the future.

Officer Response:

The application has been supported by landscape and visual impact assessment which 
concludes that following mitigation there would be no over-riding harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding landscape. The Green Belt would be retained to the north, east 
and west of the application site. The purpose of the Green Belt is to prevent the sprawl of towns 
and stop settlements from merging into one another. The Green Belts purpose and importance 
in providing valuable open space, preventing the neighbouring settlements of Middleton and 
Heywood from merging would therefore be retained as a result of the proposed development. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report the proposed development would not obstruct public 
rights of way or significantly harm their integrity and therefore, it is not considered that the 
proposal would diminish the enjoyment and recreational function of the countryside. The 

Page 23



application as all applications will need to be determined on its merits.

Objection:

The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which are 
protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

Officer Response:

The impact on nature conservation interests has been assessed in more detail in subsequent 
part of the report, and it is noted that the proposals have been accompanied by an updated 
ecological report and the scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
(GMEU) and Natural England the Council’s Green.  Whilst it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in the loss of open fields on the urban fringe of Middleton, it is noted 
that the proposals include a large area of landscaped open space along the boundaries of the 
site that would incorporate replacement ponds, tree planting and landscaping. The proposal 
includes the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries and within the site which act as 
wildlife corridors and it is noted that otherwise the fields comprise species poor semi-improved 
grassland. Subject to conditions securing biodiversity enhancements within the site and 
mitigation measures to minimise impacts on nesting birds, Great Crested Newts and bats, it is 
considered that there would be no over-riding harm to wildlife and nature conservation interests. 

Objection:

My concern is that this application (previously 88 dwellings) has now increased and I don't 
believe that we have the infrastructure to support dwellings of this size. Our roads in the area are 
already heavily congested and prone to accidents. Middleton is the target of House 
Development companies who wish to build on green space to save costs from developing on 
brown space to make more margin/profit. Our landscape is disappearing and along with it the 
animals, birds and insects that live here. The traffic officer needs to complete a comprehensive 
independent survey to assess the risks, as the figures quoted at the last public meeting were 
questionable - just 4 more cars in peak time? Our schools are at full capacity - a fact backed up 
by the educational expert, so the local facilities are not adequate for the needs of all the new 
families coming into the area, should this go ahead. I honestly feel that the council has a 
responsibility to the community it represents and should hold the line previously given and 
refuse this application.

Officer Response:

The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which includes a detailed 
appraisal of the traffic implications of the development along with proposals on adjacent sites. 
The report concludes that that having modelled traffic flows on the surrounding highway network 
and junctions that the surrounding network would still operate within its existing capacity when 
the proposed development on this site and also the adjacent sites would be in use and 
complete. 

It is acknowledged that the proposal would lead to additional pressure on school places and 
therefore, the applicant proposes a financial contribution to the Council so that additional school 
places can be provided.  This calculation is set out in the relevant section of the report.  

Objection:

I can only envisage more Noise, Traffic, etc. should this proposed development go ahead, which 
is contrary to why we settled here some 18 years ago for our retirement when it was relatively 
quiet.

Page 24



Officer Response:

These issues are addressed in the relevant sections of this report.  

Objection:

There is insufficient infrastructure to support this development in terms of schools, doctors and 
dentists.  The local roads are beyond capacity at peak periods and this development will only 
add to excessive traffic in an area that does not benefit from the Metrolink system.  The 
proximity of St Annes School increases the risk of a child be injured by increased traffic flow.  
Hollin Lane/Langley lane is used as a short cut from junction 19 when there is congestion at 
junction 18 (2/3 times per week).

Officer Response:

The proposed access is considered to be sufficient distance from Hazelhurst Drive so as not to 
conflict with trips to St Anne’s School.  The submitted Transport Assessment includes an 
assessment of the impact on the Hazelhurst Drive/Hollin Lane junction and does not consider it 
to constitute a significant impact. The submitted Transport Assessment has factored in the 
impact on local roads arising from the cumulative impact of this development along with other 
consented/in planning schemes in the area.  This is detailed further in the ‘highways’ section of 
this report.  

Objection:
It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding and 
whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the additional foul 
and surface water generated by the proposal.  The site already suffers from poor drainage.  The 
water pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result of 
the development.

Officer Response:

The flood risk and drainage implications of the proposed development are considered in more 
detail elsewhere in this report. Nevertheless, the application has been accompanied by a flood 
risk assessment and outline drainage strategy which sets out the existing drainage and flood 
issues within the site. This concludes that the site is at no significant risk of flooding from a 
variety of sources and that to attenuate and manage surface water flows that a network of 
overground water storage and oversized pipes be provided to mimic the existing surface water 
flows of the greenfield site and that this be directed to an existing nearby watercourse in 
accordance with sustainable drainage objectives. It is noted that the the Council as Lead Local 
Flood Authority have raised no objections subject to conditions restricting the method of foul and 
surface water drainage accordingly, and the submission and approval of a detailed foul and 
surface water drainage scheme within subsequent applications. In order to prevent surface 
water entering the combined foul sewer a condition has been included preventing surface water 
entering the foul sewer. It is therefore considered that there are sufficient measures in place to 
secure the approval and implementation of a foul and surface water drainage scheme that would 
not result in the increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

Objection:

There is little reason and supporting evidence for needless destruction of open countryside. The 
importance is well-documented, along with the Health and environmental benefits. This includes 
important features, and priority species such as Great Crested Newts (these have been 
identified circa 500 meters from the development) Bats (the roosts have not been identified yet 
and therefore in danger of disturbance) Hedgerows which are over 30 years old, and contrary to 

Page 25



Wain Homes rationale is an important feature and are currently protected. These features 
sustain a multitude of Flora and fauna, including identified priority species This open countryside 
provides links and important corridors to other "green Spaces" This development contradicts the 
Greater Manchester Bio Diversity Action Plan. As previous surveys undertaken on behalf of 
RMBC suggest the importance of these zones and the importance of green open spaces Open 
vistas, which currently all enjoy, will be lost Middleton does not need to lose this buffer zone 
between Heywood I object on the grounds that this area already has protection and should 
continue to be protected for the benefit of the flora and fauna plus the health and well being 
benefits. Rochdale Planning Department indicates that they do have the land available that is 
suitable for housing (circa 11000 plots) that meets the Government current guidelines and 
recommendations. Plus these sites have been offered to developers so I am at a loss to know 
why this development has even been considered? In view of this status of the land in question 
(which, is similar to Green Belt) coupled with the Governments latest proposals the Council 
should also refuse the Wain Homes planning application on these grounds

Officer Response:
These issues are addressed in the relevant sections of this officer report.

Objection:
This area of Middleton is home to a range of wildlife. During late commutes home from work, I 
have seen foxes, bats, and even an owl; these plans will have a massive impact on their habitat. 
I find it fascinating that, with all our intelligence and understanding about ecosystems, etc., 
human beings rarely consider other species' needs above our own.

Officer Response:

Response detailed in the ‘ecology’ section of this report.

Objection:
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force of 
public opinion.

Officer Response:

The concerns and objections raised by surrounding residents are appreciated and understood 
and are fully considered in the determination of this application. As also set out elsewhere in this 
report the Local Planning Authority has to determine the planning application in accordance with 
the policies of the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Indeed 
as set out below this is a requirement set out in planning law governing the decision making of 
planning applications. The starting point is therefore the development plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is an important material consideration as are those material 
planning considerations discussed above and raised by objectors.  

ANALYSIS

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to be 
allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was not 

Page 26



included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north and west 
of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt are not known 
but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban areas of Greater 
Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the permanence of the Green 
Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the future development needs of the 
existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly designated as either Protected Open 
Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of Protected 
Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at that time. It is 
noted that land was released for residential development to the south of Langley Lane (former 
Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of the current St. Anne’s 
Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for development in the 1980’s to allow 
for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a commitment 
being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the boundaries of the 
Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 GMGBLP 
with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane and Hollin Lane 
was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land Protection policy (Policy 
C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green Belt.  Since the land in 
question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy was relevant to this site.  
Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt and 
the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will normally 
grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the land were in 
Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 

general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 

outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially 
Policy R/27; and

(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-
(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact on 
the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in connection 
with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will be 
safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all the 
provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of both 
the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these requests the 

Page 27



Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green Belt: (1) that 
Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open, and (2) 
that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes 
impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The Inspector 
concluded that the addition of these sites to the Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, neither 
was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment development at 
that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of Langley Lane.  On this 
matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and Hollin 
Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only slight 
change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed to Open 
Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development proposals 
will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale 

with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
c) a limited extension to an existing building which:
(i) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(ii) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies other 

policies of the Plan; and
(iii)  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not adversely 

affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing buildings.  
Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, should be 
sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All buildings and 
extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are compatible with the 
landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and environment of adjacent Green 
Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the size 
of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review of Green 
Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance indicated that such a 
review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and regional guidance, the 
objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient for him to recommend a 
modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector did 
not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of the 
approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this wider 
assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate number of 
residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken forward as it was 
considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the relatively low housing target 
for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

Page 28



The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during the 
examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination of the 
Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector considered 
requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green Belt. The Inspector 
concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is unnecessary to keep permanently 
open; and the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it 
becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The 
Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt 
was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 1999 
Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently carried 
forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and 
environmental.  

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing 
the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 
creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means that local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet 
the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, 
with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be 
restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay, 

and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

Page 29



planning permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 
 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore, represents a departure from the development plan, 
specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of 
the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in 
the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to 
the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework - the closer the 
policies in the development plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight they 
may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated 
areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. Policy 
H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight in 
the determination of this application.  Policies H/3 and D/10 are also considered to be out of 
date; although they still have some weight in the decision making process because there are 
elements of each policy which still align with the NPPF.

Specifically, policy D/10 relates to ‘Protected Open Land’ and is not considered to be entirely 
consistent with the NPPF given that it attempts to provide blanket protection against most 
development types in a similar fashion to Green Belt policy.  Nevertheless, it appears to 
assimilate with the NPPF in a broad sense as it aims to protect the countryside by ensuring that 
the land is kept permanently open.  One of the core planning principles set out in the NPPF is to 
‘recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside’ which implies that a more 
objective approach should be undertaken when assessing the impact of a development on 
areas of countryside.  The visual impact of the scheme on the open land is covered in more 
detail in the relevant section of this report.  However, it is inevitable that a residential 
development on this scale would result in the loss of a large area of countryside, as well as 
harming the open nature and character of the area.  It can only be concluded in principle terms 
that the scheme would result in conflict with policy D/10 of the UDP and this weighs against the 
scheme.  

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date if the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites’.  It is considered that the lack of a 5 year supply further shifts the 
balance in favour of the scheme in light of the guidance contained in Para 49 of the NPPF, as the 
proposal would contribute to the unmet need for market housing (and in this case an element of 
affordable housing) that arises from the lack of adequate housing supply.  However, this does 
not make ‘out-of-date’ UDP housing policies which have the effect of restricting residential 
development redundant.  Therefore, whilst policy H/3 has the effect of potentially restricting 
residential development on greenfield land which falls outside allocated areas; the remaining 
criteria contained within the policy is compliant with most of the requirements set out in the 
NPPF.  It is should therefore, be attributed weight in the decision making process.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may 

Page 30



also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the 
degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF 
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).  

The Council is now at an advanced stage in terms of its Core Strategy with proposed Main 
Modifications to the Plan having recently undergone further consultation.  The policies within 
this plan, and particularly those which are not the subject of a main modification may now have 
significant weight in terms of the decision making process

The Council’s current published five year supply is set out in the 2015 Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) which gives the position as at 1st April 2015.  This SHLAA 
identifies land for housing that could deliver 690 additional dwellings per year in the first five 
years.  

The Council’s housing target will be set out in the adopted Core Strategy.  The Core Strategy 
was submitted for examination in May 2013.  This submitted Core Strategy included a housing 
target of 400 additional homes per year.  An independent Inspector was appointed to hold the 
examination and the hearing sessions took place in October 2013.  Following on from the 
hearing sessions the Inspector sent a letter to the Council on 20th November 2013 which set out 
his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the evidence regarding 
objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the submitted Core Strategy.  
In order to address this issue the Inspector recommended that an update of the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should 
be suspended in order for updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014.  Work on 
updating the SHMA was undertaken with the final SHMA concluding that a figure of 460 
additional homes per year better reflects current evidence on objectively assessed housing 
need.

The Inspector’s full report on the soundness of the Core Strategy has yet to be received.  
However, given the advanced stage of the Core Strategy, using the figure of 460 additional 
homes per year to assess the Council’s current ability to demonstrate a five year supply would 
appear to be the most appropriate approach at this stage.  The current five year supply 
demonstrates that there is capacity to deliver 690 additional dwellings per annum in the first five 
years.  Therefore, if revised Core Strategy target was to be applied, the Council could 
demonstrate a five year supply (5.4 years) of land available to deliver its objectively assessed 
need.  However, as already stated, the housing target has not yet been adopted and it is unclear 
at this stage how the Inspector may deal with undersupply, therefore, it is not considered that the 
Council can demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land at this stage.

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 
14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the Framework as 
a whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 

Page 31



relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land between 
the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy acknowledges 
that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the development of 
protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria within the section are 
satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and seeks to reflect the 
guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local Plans are sufficiently 
flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs over the plan period.  At the 
current time it is not clear whether this site would be allocated as Protected Open Land in future 
as the ‘allocations’ plan associated with the Core Strategy has not yet been produced for public 
consultation.  

Accessibility

In respect of accessibility, it is also noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs 
along Hollin Lane immediately to the east of the site which provides 3 services into Middleton 
Town Centre, Bury and Manchester with a frequency of a service every 10 minutes during the 
day provided on one of these services. The site lies within close proximity of a secondary school, 
and it is noted that there are a number of primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance 
from the site. With regards to other local facilities, three small retail and commercial units are 
located at the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small 
convenience shop are located within walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of 
the site. A wide variety of employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and 
amenities located within Middleton and Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 
10 minutes, with the regional centre of Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. 
Having regard to the above, the application site is considered to be within a sustainable location 
for the purposes of the NPPF. 

Conclusion on Principle of Development

The overall conclusion with respect of the principle of development is that the application should 
be assessed against the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF.  The Council at this stage are unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of housing.  When this is considered in context of paragraph 47 of the NPPF, which seeks to 
significantly boost the supply of housing, this is a material consideration in favour of the scheme 
which should attract substantial weight.  Some elements of policies within the UDP relating to 
housing are out of date and therefore, the weight attributed to policy D/10 (Protecting Open 
Land) and H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas) are afforded less weight in 
the decision making process.  Ultimately the acceptance of the scheme depends on whether the 
application is considered to constitute sustainable development, set in context of paragraph 14 
of the NPPF, and this requires an assessment identifying the benefits and dis-benefits of the 
scheme so as to determine whether or not the proposal comprises sustainable development as 
defined by the NPPF.  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local 

Page 32



planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They 
should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues before 

applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional 
school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the 
Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would generate 
additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should be 
mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within the 
local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional places 
to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has subsequently 
requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for education 
places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education 
facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is considered that the 
provision of such additional education places and facilities would be necessary in order to 
provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable development 
running through the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide 
financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. 
The basis for calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary and 
secondary education places has through these discussions been agreed with the Council as 
Education Authority. A more detailed breakdown of the calculation of the necessary financial 
contributions towards mitigating for the education need generated by the proposed development 
is discussed in the planning obligations section of this report.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities 
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Best and 
most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of lesser quality is 
classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5. 

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 2.4 ha of agricultural 
land most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes.  A survey has been 
undertaken by the applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic 
considerations the land within the site constitutes grade 3B (moderate quality). Therefore, the 
proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, which accords 
with the NPPF and the loss of the moderate quality agricultural land is necessary to secure the 
provision of housing. The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.    

Page 33



Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 
 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as 

local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and places 
of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments; 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare 
per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the 
case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to be met through a 
financial contribution towards the laying out (including maintenance) and/or improvement of 
recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational open space are calculated 
on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting 
demand for recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more than 
five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as recreation and 
sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate contributions for open space 
outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further contributions sought would not 
comply with the requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific 
projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the indicative layout 
demonstrates the proposal would provide on-site open space, the detailed layout of which will 
be determined within future reserved matters applications. The provision of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP) within the linear area of public open space would provide formal children’s 
play facilities for the future occupants. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the 
responsibility of the developer and it is intended that a landscape open space implementation 
and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
S106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England Sports 
Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports facilities, at 
Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities.  Sport 
England has subsequently withdrawn the non-statutory objection initially raised.  As such, the 
proposal includes on and off site provision of formal and informal sport and recreation facilities in 
accordance with the NPPF. 

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Page 34



Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires that 
the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will be 
required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment, 
and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and accord with the 
best of its surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their surroundings 
and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features which make a 
material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and historic 
significance. 

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

a) Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and 
from the site and surrounding area);

b) Remove incongruous landscape features;
c) Assist the conservation of:

(i) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(ii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or cumulatively) 

to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road patterns, existing 
buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(iii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(iv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(v) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area will 
not be permitted.”

The application site comprises an agricultural field which is bounded to the east by a road and 
beyond the site to the west side is a footpath.  Immediately to the north is a track which leads to 
Dingle Farm.  The site lies within a pleasant area of countryside which appears to be valued by 
much of the local community both in terms of aesthetic and recreational value. With regards to 
the character of the wider area, the site sits within the Manchester Pennine Fringe national 
character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the north and Manchester 
Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury Rochdale and Oldham and is 
described as a transitional zone between elevated, open moorlands and densely populated 
urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described as a transition from upland to lowland 
with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided valleys, and with vantage points provided 
on elevated areas providing views across Greater Manchester. This notes that much of the 
countryside has been influenced by recreational use of adjacent urban areas and diversification 
of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe character.

Page 35



The site lies to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the north leading to 
the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The application site sits 
within an undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows with small farm 
complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is located within what is 
characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character Areas defined in policy NE/6 
of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more domesticated farmscape with occasional 
small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; improved grasslands used for cattle, sheep 
and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses including farming, equestrian, outdoor 
sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) in support of 
the application.  This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during 
construction and throughout the lifetime of the development and also considers the cumulative 
impact with the other schemes. The LVIA concludes that there will be the following residual 
effects as a result of the operational scheme:

• A negligible effect on the landscape character of the immediate area which would be 
insignificant in the broader local context;

• A negligible direct effect on trees and hedgerows;
• A moderate beneficial effect on landscape features overall;
• No residual visual effects greater than slight adverse; and that
• All effects will be local in scale and of low significance to insignificant.

In respect of specific impact, the site lies approximately 640m to the south of Rochdale Way and 
from this receptor the impact of the development would be negligible mainly owing to a rise in 
the landform between the application site and this receptor.  Within close proximity of the site, 
particularly from the approach on Hollin Lane, the site would constitute a new urban edge to 
Middleton.  The upper storeys of properties would be readily visible along the stretch of Hollin 
Lane which lies close to the site.  Over time the visual impact of would be softened and filtered 
as the proposed boundary planting matured.  Similarly, whilst the site would be visible from the 
Green Belt land to the north; the application includes a landscaping buffer on the norther 
boundary in order to assimilate the development into the wider landscape.  Overall, it is 
considered that the proposed development would irreversibly change the character of the 
immediate area and there would be an element of conflict with policy NE/6 of the UDP.  Put 
simply, the site and its immediate surroundings would be changed from pleasant open 
countryside to an expanse of housing.  This would be to the detriment of the openness of the 
area, thus there would be some conflict with policy D/10 of the UDP.  The proposal is considered 
to result in some conflict with paragraph 17 of the NPPF in that it would fail to adhere to the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, albeit that the impact would be reduced by the 
proximity of the site to the existing urban grain and the provision of appropriate landscaping to 
mitigate impacts in the long-term.  It is considered that the impact on the open countryside 
should be weighed in the balance in determining whether or not the proposal constitutes 
sustainable development.

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 

Page 36



movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether:
 the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on the 

nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;
 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
 improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 

the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required alongside 
planning applications where:

a) The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road 
traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to determine 
whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and

b) The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate 
accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from the 
site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the size 
of a development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what highway 
works and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage parking 
demand, address the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the 
Transport Assessment must support and complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in 
the Local Transport Plan.

The proposed development fits into a wider Master Plan which includes a number of other 
applications.  As part of the consented Hollin Lane (East) (ref – 15/01183/OUT and Langley 
Lane developments (ref - 15/01195/OUT), proposals were included for a range of sustainable 
transport and highways measures to support the residential developments. Due to the proximity 
of this application site to the two consented developments, the committed highway 
improvements outlined below will benefit this site:
• Two new bus stops on Hollin Lane;
• Upgrade to an existing informal crossing to provide a signalised pedestrian crossing on 

Hollin Lane, close to St Anne’s Academy School;
• Gateway and traffic calming features on Hollin Lane to support the existing speed limit 

change from 40mph to 30mph;
• Widening of the existing Hollin Lane / Langley Lane junction;
• Traffic calming features along Langley Lane; and
• A contribution to cycle improvements along Hollin Lane from Langley Lane to Rochdale 

Road.

Access:

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 

Page 37



uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

As noted above, this application being outline with all matters reserved other than access, seeks 
permission for the access to the site which is proposed to be provided by a single access off 
Hollin Lane which lies to the east of the site. The proposed junction comprises a priority ‘T’ 
junction.  The indicative masterplan shows the main access road routing in a northerly direction 
from Langley Lane before forking west and east.  There is provision for an access to the south in 
order to potentially link in with the application for 94 dwellings which is currently under 
consideration (16/00725/OUT).  

It is proposed that the access will include a right turn ghost island lane catering for approximately 
five vehicles, to prevent blocking of through-traffic movements on Hollin Lane. This junction 
arrangement can be accommodated within the existing width of Hollin Lane, without the need for 
widening providing suitable lane widths and is located within the 30mph section of Hollin Lane. 
Two metre wide footways will be provided on both sides of the proposed site access tying in to 
the existing footways along Hollin Lane with dropped kerbs and tactile paving to aid crossing.  
These works could be undertaken under a S278 Agreement.  

It is noted that the site is located within relatively close proximity to junction 19 of the M62 
motorway to the north. Highways England formerly Highways Agency have considered the 
impacts on the strategic road network and have raised no objections subject to a condition 
securing the approval of a travel plan in consultation with the Highways England and its 
subsequent implementation. 

Traffic Generation and Network Capacity:

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional traffic 
generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway Network, 
both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with restricted 

mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the development;
c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by traffic 

associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a development 
proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the developer will be 
required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The works required by 
the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

With regards to the specific implications on the important strategic network of the M62 and 
works associated with the South Heywood Strategic site and South Heywood Link Road it is 
also noted from separate analysis undertaken by the Highways Agency, that subject to 
implementation of the wider pinch point scheme of signalisation of junction 19 of the M62 
motorway the proposed development individually and cumulatively could be accommodated 
alongside these other long term strategic objectives.

Page 38



In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage sustainable 
travel choice a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application and proposes that 
the subsequent development incorporate a number of physical, management based measure to 
minimise travel by private motor-vehicle.  In order to secure this framework travel plan is drawn 
up into a detailed Travel Plan alongside the detailed reserved matters applications for the layout 
and design of the site, a condition has been recommended requiring the reserved matters 
applications to be accompanied by a detailed travel plan.  

The capacity assessments undertaken have demonstrated that the traffic associated with the 
proposed development can be accommodated on the surrounding highway network. It is 
therefore concluded that the impacts of the application proposals are acceptable in transport 
terms and there are no residual impacts which are deemed to be severe within the context of the 
NPPF.  Highways have assessed the impacts of the proposed development in isolation and 
cumulatively with the other developments in the Hollin Lane masterplan area with respect of the 
potential impact on the Hollin Lane/Langley Lane, Langley Lane/Heywood Old Road, Hollin 
Lane/Hazelhurst Drive and the J19 of the M62 junction.  Their comments, including potential 
mitigation, will be reported as an update to the Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee.  

Having regard to the above, and subject to the measures set out above being secured by way of 
condition and appropriate contributions by way of a legal agreement that there would be no 
severe impact on the function and safety of the surrounding local and strategic highway network, 
in accordance with the policies set out in the NPPF and saved policies of the UDP.

Parking Provision:

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision and 
minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car parking 
provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two spaces per 
dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. 

As the application submitted is in outline no details of the exact parking provision to be provided 
for each has been submitted at this point in time. However, details of parking provision for each 
dwelling will provided in subsequent applications for reserved matters for the detailed 
development of the site. Any scheme would need to come forward in line with the above 
standards set out in the UDP. Nevertheless, in principle given the number of dwellings proposed 
and layout and size of the site it is considered that sufficient parking could be provided on the 
site for the 65 dwellings in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP.

Impact on Public Rights of Way:

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
• The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 

Page 39



Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and implement 
high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

• Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate the 
greater use of these routes by cyclists, horseriders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as waymarking, picnic, interpretation and other 
facilities along the routes.

• In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural interests, 
areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and the character 
and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to the 
scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that proposals 
should ensure:

• Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and buildings, 
well lit and signed as appropriate;

• The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment of 
convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

• Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

• Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment and 
the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such 
improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility for 
disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

A number of objections refer to the loss of recreational open land.  However, the proposal does 
not include any alterations to the existing PROW and the Council’s footpath officer has 
confirmed that he is satisfied with the proposals.  Therefore, whilst a number of concerns relate 
to the recreational value of the site; there are currently no footpaths crossing the site and 
therefore, the recreational value of the site is considered to be limited.  The scheme has been 
designed in order to link in with existing footpaths in the area and this would be the subject of a 
detailed layout scheme at reserved matters stage.  

As a result, it is considered that the proposed indicative scheme would provide for a safe and 
accessible environment in accordance with the above policies of the UDP and the policy 
objectives set out in the NPPF.  It is not considered to constitute a ‘severe’ highways impact.  

Ecological and Nature Conservation

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on nature 
conservation interests are also protected by a series of legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive stresses the importance of natural 
networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable habitats, and 

Page 40



promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following (relevant) 
principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest likely 
to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either individually or in 
combination with other developments) should not normally be permitted. Where an 
adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is likely, an exception should 
only be made where the benefits of the development, at this site, clearly outweigh both 
the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site that make it of special 
scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), national 
(e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of Biological 
Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not adversely affect 
the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and that appropriate 
mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek to 
retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 

areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where required, 

adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current levels of the 
population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate criteria 

Page 41



for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 
amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The only internationally designated site in relatively close proximity to the site is a section of the 
Rochdale Canal that is classified as both an SAC and SSSI. The Rochdale Canal SAC and SSSI 
is located 2km to the northeast of the site boundary. Due to the distance away from the site and 
amount of land separating the two, it is not considered that the development will have any 
negative impact on the internationally designated site.  Glade & Oaken Bank Woods SBI and 
Hopwood Woods LNR lie over 900m to the east and 820m to the east of the site respectively. As 
the Local Nature Reserve is open to the public there is a possibility that development of the site 
for new housing could result in a small increase in visitor access.

The submitted ecology report concludes that the most valuable area for foraging and commuting 
bats is along the boundary features of the site.  The ecologist recommends a lighting scheme, 
both temporary (during construction) and permanent (post-development) in order to reduce light 
levels along these features.  

In addition, the report recommends an updated badger survey should be undertaken 6 months 
prior to any construction activity taking place. This will ensure no setts have been constructed 
either within the site or within 30m of the site boundary that could be impacted by the 
development.

In respect of impacts on birds, any planned vegetation clearance works should be undertaken 
outside the bird breeding season (March to August inclusive), to avoid damage to any ground or 
tree nesting species. All works undertaken during the breeding season should include a nesting 
bird check to be carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist immediately prior to any clearance 
works commencing.  The ecology report did not find evidence of any potential for owls.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the scheme and have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to conditions. It is considered that subsequent 
reserved matters applications and the proposed development overall would ensure that 
adequate mitigation and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that 
the development would not result in significant adverse effects on the nearby Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve and the nature conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation 
status of any protected species.  Any loss of habitat could be appropriately mitigated and 
enhancement features could be provided in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF.  
The proposed development is therefore, considered to be in accordance with the requirements 
of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the policies contained within the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly 
affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper 
written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other 
works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works carried 
out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice. 

Page 42



In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 
amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 

(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field 
boundaries within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. 
Otherwise the site comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted that 
none of the trees within or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree Preservation order. 

The indicative layout demonstrates that trees and hedgerows can be retained in the layout of the 
development.  Given that the hedgerows provide foraging habitat for bats, the retention of these 
foraging grounds is considered important.  A condition is recommended requiring a detailed 
landscaping and planting scheme for the site. Therefore, in principle it is considered that the 
proposed development would not result in the loss of important landscape features and through 
the implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site 
secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that there would be a significant gain 
in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would enhance biodiversity and 
would accord with the requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 

buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 

pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality 
of life as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of 
conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where would 
lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of 
buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in the Council’s SPD “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” recommend that a minimum separation distance of 21 metres should 
be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres 

Page 43



between principal and secondary elevations.

The site does not adjoin residential properties, but there are a number of properties within just 
21m to the south of the site boundary.  Whilst the layout is indicative and would be considered 
further at reserved matters stage, it is considered that in principle the development, subject to 
appropriate layout, external appearance and privacy distances to be determined at reserved 
matters stage, would not unduly impact on the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties.  
These properties would experience a change in outlook; however, it is an established principle 
in planning law that there is no right to a view.  The provision of an access in close proximity of 
existing properties on Langley Lane is not considered detrimental to the amenity of the 
occupiers of these properties.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPD ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’ and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and noise 
pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise, the comments of the Council’s EHO are awaited but it is likely that a 
condition will be recommended which could be attached to any consent in order to ensure 
internal noise levels meet required standards.  Subject to this condition, it is considered that the 
proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level of amenity for future 
occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding residents, and occupiers 
of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this 
application which concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause 
air quality impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and 
from road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 
site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with the 
residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive receptors 
including surrounding residents.  

A condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval of a construction 
management plan to ensure the construction impacts are mitigated. This would also ensure 
appropriate site working hours to protect the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties to 
the south.  

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would not 
result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings in the local area, and to the character and 
openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring the 
submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions the 
proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, would 
not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective receptors by 
way of noise, air quality and light pollution. The proposed development would therefore be in 

Page 44



accordance with the requirements of UDP policies G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the 
objectives of the SPD “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which 
aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 is 
the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

• Volume control where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the runoff 
volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in the 1 
in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield runoff volume for 
the same event.

UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met:

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water;

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
• It would not result in extensive culverting; and
• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 
in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application 
site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the application has been 
supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. 

National guidance (NPPG) states that the aim of drainage scheme should be to discharge run-
off as high up the hierarchy as reasonably practicable:

1 – into the ground (infiltration)
2 – to a surface water body
3 – to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system
4 – to a combined sewer.

The applicant states that the ground is unlikely to be suitable for infiltration.  However, they have 

Page 45



committed to carrying out further permeability tests before they can conclude whether or a 
SUDS technique involving ground water infiltration would be appropriate.  The Council’s 
Drainage Officer has commented that he would like a commitment to a reduction in run-off of 
between 30% and 50% as there is no detailed design or calculations to back up the potential of 
the existing watercourse to accommodate the run-off.  This could be conditioned.

In terms of concerns relating to existing ground water flooding within the fields, the applicant has 
acknowledged that surveys revealed some evidence of standing water on the western boundary 
of the site.  However, this is likely to be to be due to the defects in the land drainage system as 
opposed to water logging.  Further survey detail would be submitted as part of a detailed 
scheme at reserved matters stage.

As this is an outline planning application, conditions are therefore, recommended to require the 
submission of detailed schemes for the disposal of foul and surface waters, to incorporate 
attenuation methods and flow control devices to limit the discharge rates and sustainable urban 
drainage system (SUDS) measures.  Subject to conditions, it is therefore considered that in 
principle adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development poses 
no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance 
with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act similarly 
requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court of 
Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 
2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed 
or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its 
setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the historic 
environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management publicly 
accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance understanding 

Page 46



of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner 
proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any 
archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record evidence of our 
past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on the site itself or its 
setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such cases, 
the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 
archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 
secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 
applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent to 
the application site. The site being bordered by open fields, and to the south by existing housing.  
The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* listed Hopwood Hall dating back to the 16th 
century and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, which are over 1km to the east. Given the 
intervening distance and the presence of the substantial amount of mature tree coverage at 
Hopwood Woods and ancient woodland, and the undulating topography, it is noted that the 
proposed development would not impact on the curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor would it 
be visible from these buildings, and nor would they be both visible within the same context and 
setting. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would have no impact on the 
setting of these heritage assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Middleton Town Centre 
Conservation Area is located approximately 950 metres to the south of the application site. 
Given the intervening distance between the site and conservation area and the existing scale 
and variety of built form suburban residential expansion between the northern edge of the 
conservation area and the application site it is not considered that the proposed development 
would impact on its setting, and nor would it impact on the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

It is also noted that the Birch Village Conservation Area is located in excess of 1 km to the west 
of the application site. Given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the open 
farmland, and the context of the conservation area being located on lower ground within a valley 
along Heywood old Road and bordered by mature trees, it is noted that the proposed 
development would not be seen within views of the conservation area and nor would it be seen 
from the conservation area itself. As a result, it is not considered that the proposed development 
would cause any significant impact on the character and appearance or the significance of this 
heritage asset.

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted from 
comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) have advised 
that no further survey work is required in this case as the proposal would not threaten existing 
archaeological features.  Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to the conditions set 
out above, it is considered that the proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan 
would not in principle cause any harm to nearby heritage assets and that sufficient measures 

Page 47



would be in place to ensure that the importance of potential archaeologically significant assets 
are recorded. The proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, 
BE15, BE17 of the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:
• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 

instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or 
impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that:
• Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 

development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and a 
completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with the 
agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or change of 
use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land and will seek 
to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise to significant 
contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields leftover 
for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 environmental 
assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk of contamination. It 
also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface obstructions.  As a result, it 
is noted that there are no risks that in principle would prevent the site from being used for 
residential purposes, and the report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further 
detailed intrusive site investigation and analysis be undertaken. The Council’s Contaminated 
Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, land stability issues which may 
exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of this condition. 
Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation of a 
scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the proposed site 
would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that 
proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not allow 
for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically 

viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place; or;
3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic 

value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;
4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 

Page 48



taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and Brick 
Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result of the nature of the 
proposed residential development would sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may exist 
below the site. Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and 
Waste Planning Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable 
and impossible, it is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a 
five year supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have 
raised no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested housing 
land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed with regard 
to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of boosting housing 
provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for the proposed 
development to form up to 65 dwellings would outweigh the need for mineral extraction. 
Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would accord 
with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve and 
assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully incorporated 
into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the amenity of the 
surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental disturbance). 
Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, small-
scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on renewable 
and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings which 
should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The Code for 
Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important material 
consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a material 
change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission on the 
site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard or 
in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement, concerning 

Page 49



energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of water efficiency. 
In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new dwellings to meet an 
equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, details 
of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of travel for 
Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be brought 
forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to date Local 
Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are optional and if 
the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should preferentially be through new 
policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers to a Code which has now been 
revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most appropriate that the sustainability 
requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards affordable 
housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with UDP policies 
H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision of 
Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is important again to note 
that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to the adoption of the UDP and 
SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be afforded to the Core Strategy, it is 
noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure the impact of 
development is mitigated and that development contributes to physical and social infrastructure 
requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 106 
obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a kind 
which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to tariff style 
contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has entered into more 
than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further contributions can be pooled to 
this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the regulations is to encourage 
Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL instead of imposing requirements 
for contributions through section 106 obligations, however it has been acknowledged that the 
pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of infrastructure.  Contributions may therefore 
be sought to specific infrastructure projects if they meet the three tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To ensure 
viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when 
taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to 
a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable. As this 
application is in outline form, any detailed assessment of viability would occur at reserved 
matters stage once the precise number and nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is 

Page 50



clear that there will be a need to ensure that contribution requirements do not undermine viability 
and deliverability, having regard to site specific requirements and a need to ensure the impacts 
of the development are adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below.  

Education Provision:

As noted above, the NPPF in paragraph 70 requires that in decisions Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of community facilities and other local services to 
enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments. Paragraph 72 also 
states that great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand 
for additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is noted that the 
proposed residential development of up to 88 dwellings would generate additional demand for 
primary and secondary school places within the local area. As set out above, due to the lack of 
capacity in the existing primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education 
Authority have requested that by way of financial contributions the proposed development 
mitigates for this additional demand for by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards 
providing additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number of 
dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £200,200.17 (pupil yield of 16.25 (65 x 
0.25) = 16.25) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £100,100.65 (pupil yield of 6.5 pupil places (65 x 0.1) multiplied by the 
basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide additional school places in 
Middleton Township and these contributions are necessary in order to mitigate the effect of the 
additional school place demand arising from these developments.

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the number of 
units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-
being of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for an area of on-site open space on the site. The detailed layout 
of this will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters applications. However, 
with regards to its future maintenance and management, it is intended that a landscape open 
space implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 
Agreement.
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 65 new homes, in terms of formal outdoor sports facilities it is proposed that a 

Page 51



contribution of £60,395.40 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards the provision 
of improved outdoor sport facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing Fields to the 
southwest of the application site. It is proposed that these would be calculated using the figures 
provided by Sport England and used within their Sports Facility Calculator. This would be 
equivalent of £929.16 per dwelling or £386.86 per person derived from Sport England Sports 
Facility Calculator figures (Sport England correspondence dated 30th June 2015). Utilising the 
Sport England formula, the following financial contributions would be applicable:
 £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 65 x £929.16 = £60,395.40; or 
 £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (65 x 2.4) = 156 x £386.86 = £60,350.16

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development by 
providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure it is 
directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with the CIL 
Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in accordance with 
a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased manner in accordance 
with the NPPF.  

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD. The 
applicant has stated that this would be subject to viability.  The NPPG states that, in making 
decisions, the Local Planning Authority would need to understand the impact of planning 
obligations on the proposal. Where an applicant is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
local planning authority that the planning obligation would cause the development to be 
unviable, the local planning authority should be flexible in seeking planning obligations. The 
NPPG also advises that this is particularly relevant for affordable housing contributions which 
are often the largest single item sought on housing developments. In the context of this 
application, the scheme includes an affordable housing on-site or off-site contribution and this 
would be required as part of any implemented scheme, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
scheme is otherwise unviable.

Page 52

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/


Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

It will be necessary to enter into a s106 agreement and a s278 highway act agreement to secure 
a series of on and off-site highway works to ensure necessary improvements and alterations are 
undertaken on the local highway network in accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.  
These are also necessary to ensure the site provides suitable facilities for pedestrians and 
cyclists and provides access to the bus network to encourage the take up of sustainable 
transport modes.  

The following measures of improvement are proposed:
- Provision of a ghost island and right turn lane from Hollin Lane into the site;

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:

- A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and renewed 
on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane 
southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

It is considered that the above comprise mitigation directly related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary for the development to proceed in accordance with the CIL 
regulations.  

Further mitigation measures will be reported, where appropriate, at the Middleton Planning Sub-
Committee meeting following receipt of comments from Highways.

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

The crux of the matter is whether or not the scheme constitutes sustainable development.  
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF confirms that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  In addition, the NPPF directs that where policies are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless the adverse effects of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

The site lies on an area of protected open land just beyond the established settlement boundary.  
It constitutes a greenfield site which is open and relatively undeveloped.  Whilst having regard to 
the desirability of recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, adverse 
landscape and visual effects would mainly be confined to the immediate environs of the site and 
particularly views from Hollin Lane.  Nevertheless, the character of the land would be 
detrimentally altered to an extent.  The loss of this area of open countryside and the subsequent 
conflict with policies NE/6 and D/10 weighs against the scheme.  However, this would be 
partially offset by the Council’s lack of five-year supply and the provision of 65 additional housing 
units as advocated by paragraph 47 of the NPPF; this provides considerable weight in favour of 
the scheme.

Whilst the site is not part of a consolidated area of a settlement, is not a significant distance from 
local shops or other services and effectively extends the existing urban area. It represents a 
reasonably sustainable location for new development and would tie in with other consented 
developments which form part of the wider Hollin Lane masterplan.

The proposal offers to make contributions towards affordable housing (subject to viability), 
education and recreational open space/green space thus offering a range of social and 
environmental benefits and mitigation.  Furthermore, the impact of the development on the local 
highway network, protected or priority species and nature conservation, the amenity of existing 
and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage and contamination 
could be mitigated (subject to appropriate mitigation) and the development would provide on-

Page 53



site open space provision for the future occupants of the dwellings. 

Therefore, when balancing the harm that would arise, it is not considered that this would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national 
policy. As such, there are no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.  
Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission subject 
to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act to secure the following: 

(i) The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of onsite 
provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD: 
Affordable Housing (subject to viability);

(ii) A financial contribution towards the provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development multiplied by the relevant 
basic need funding allocation (currently £200,200.17 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time); 

(iii) A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per dwelling) multiplied 
by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £100,100.65 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(iv) A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £60,350.16) but the final calculation shall be 
based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(v) A local labour scheme;
(vi) A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); and
(vii) A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site.
(viii) A financial contribution towards a Bus Stops on Hollin Lane;
(ix) A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising 

new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road.

Report Author Matthew Woodward

____________________________________________

Page 54



Application Number: 16/00725/OUT    Ward: West Middleton      

Proposal: Outline planning application (all matters reserved except for access) for up to 
94 residential units (Use Class C3) with associated landscaping, open space, access 
arrangements and car parking.  Demolition of farm and buildings associated with Close 
Road Farm.

Site Address: Land To The West Of Hollin Lane Middleton M24 5LN  

Applicant: Mr Richard Chamberlain
                  Wainhomes (NW) Limited

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

The application represents a Departure from the Development Plan.  The application has also 
received more than 4 objections and is therefore, referred to Middleton Township Planning Sub-
Committee before being referred to Planning and Licensing Committee for final determination.

PREAMBLE

The proposal constitutes an application which lies on the same application site as two previous 
applications (15/00358/OUT and 15/01207/OUT) which were for 88no dwellings, both of which 

Page 55



were refused planning permission.  One of those applications (15/00358/OUT) is the subject of 
an ongoing appeal, and a public inquiry to determine the appeal is due to take place in 
September (further detail set in the planning history section).

SITE

The application relates to a circa 3.6 hectare area of land located to the west side of the A6046 
(Hollin Lane) and north of Langley Lane in Middleton. The site is located within an area 
designated as Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
Proposals Map running between Langley Lane (to the south) and Dingle Farm and open 
agricultural fields (to the north). The site also borders fields and Hollin Lane and Hollin Drive to 
the east and open fields to the west. Adjoining land flanking part of the northern boundary lies 
within the Green Belt, with the open fields to the east falling within an adjoining area of Protected 
Open Land. The application site is located approximately 2km to the north of Middleton town 
centre, immediately adjacent to the residential are of Langley and is approximately 1km to the 
south of junction 19 of the M62 motorway.

The site adjoins an established residential area of Langley to the south that has its origins in the 
1950s as an overspill housing area for Manchester City Council. The area to the south and east is 
subsequently characterized by a mix of post-war two storey semi-detached and terraced 
dwellings and more recent detached two storey dwellings and is suburban in its character and 
appearance. The site is within walking distance of a number of key services, including St Anne’s 
Academy, Hollin Primary School, Burnside Pre-School, Middleton Cricket Club and the 
Gardeners Arms Public House and shopping parade at the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley 
Lane. There are a number of bus stops with regular and direct services to Middleton, Heywood, 
Rochdale and Manchester in close proximity. 

The site comprises undulating ground and is relatively open with limited tree cover with some 
younger specimens and the remnants of hedgerows along the boundaries. The site is bounded 
by residential development on Hollin Lane, Hollin Drive and Langley Lane to the eastern and 
southern boundaries. There are open fields beyond the northern boundary of the site and to the 
western boundary. There is a Public Right Of Way that runs immediately to the west of the site 
and also runs through the western-most part of the application site and this extends in a north-
south direction. The application site itself comprises agricultural land leftover to pasture with a 
small group of buildings to the north-western corner. Within the site close to the western 
boundary are a collection of buildings associated with Close Road Farm.  The farm extends from 
west to east by 56m and from north to south by approximately 50m.  Access to the farm buildings 
is currently taken from the existing access/public footpath which runs north from Langley Lane 
and past the farm complex.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 94 dwellings on land to the 
west of Hollin Lane and north of Langley Lane, Middleton. The application seeks approval of 
access only, with the layout, scale, landscaping and external appearance of the buildings being 
reserved for a later stage (reserved matters). 

The scheme encompasses an existing farm – Close Road Farm – and the buildings associated 
with this farm would be demolished as part of the proposal.  Dingle Farm, which lies to the north 
west of the site, is not within the red-line boundary and therefore, would be unaffected by the 
proposals.

A single access point to the site is proposed from the north side of Langley Lane.  The land 
which is the subject of the access constitutes a parcel of flat agricultural land which is situated in 
between two rows of dwellings which sit on the northern side of Langley Lane. The submitted 
indicative layout shows a potential road link within the site to the land to the north – thus the 

Page 56



scheme could potentially link with planning application 16/00444/OUT which is a residential 
scheme for 65 dwellings currently under consideration.

The existing carriageway (Langley Lane) would largely remain unchanged, save for the new 
junction which would be 5.5m wide with 2m footways on each side.  The submission 
demonstrates visibility along Langley Lane of 46m (west) and 51m (east).  The access would 
constitute a priority T-junction which would allow both access and egress from the site.        

The application submission sets a maximum parameter with respect to the number of dwellings 
(up to 94) and with regards to their scale, it is indicated that the proposed development would 
provide a range of two storey dwellings. The indicative layout shows these to comprise detached 
dwellings, with a smaller number of semi-detached properties arranged in an open plan estate 
set behind hard and soft landscaped front gardens with a combination of in curtilage driveways 
and detached and integral garage accommodation.  The scheme also indicates a small cluster 
of townhouses.  The indicative masterplan also indicates the provision of a small area of 
landscaping and public open space to the northern corner of the site perimeter of the site. The 
indicative layout also shows a potential pedestrian link to Hollin Lane to the east.  There is a 
potential link to a public right of way running along the west boundary of the site, which is 
detailed on the indicative layout plan.

It should however be noted that the submitted layout is for indicative purposes only in order to 
demonstrate that the quantum of development proposed can be adequately accommodated 
within the site boundary.  In this case ‘access’ is the only reserved matter applied for. The matter 
of access is defined in the appropriate Development Management Procedure Order to mean 
“the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the 
positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding 
access network.” The layout of the buildings and open spaces is for illustrative purposes only.

The application includes the following to be secured through the completion of a section 106 
planning obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement as follows

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £ 289,520.24 for up to 94 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £ 144,760.09 for up to 94 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields calculated by way of either a) £929.16 per dwelling or b) £386.86 
per person of the population of the development based on ONS Census Figure of people 
per dwelling for Rochdale at the time of commencement (current calculation of up to 
£87,341.04);

 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP); 

 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site; and

 A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising 
new and renewed carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application is being considered alongside another application, by a separate applicant, on 
adjacent land which lies to the north of the site. The proposal involves 65 dwellings with access 

Page 57



off Hollin Lane.  In addition, there are two consented schemes within the Wider Hollin Lane 
Masterplan Area.  The first relates to land to the north of Langley Lane (application reference 
15/01195/OUT) for the erection of up to 150 dwellings, a potential primary school, and 
associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking and the land the 
subject of that application adjoins the application site to the west. The second relates to land on 
the eastern side of Hollin Lane (planning application reference no. 15/01183/OUT) for the 
erection of up to 205 dwellings and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements 
and car parking. These two applications were submitted by a different applicant and the 
Council’s Planning and Licensing Committee at its meeting on 12th January 2016 resolved to 
grant planning permission, subject to Legal Agreements for each of the respective sites.  

Current Application Detail

The site has been the subject of two previous applications, both of which were refused planning 
permission (15/01207/OUT and 15/00358/OUT).  The most recent application, 15/01207/OUT, 
was refused planning permission for the following reason:

- The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in close proximity to the 
junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and thus the access to St Anne's Academy, 
and the pedestrian crossing facilities on Hollin Lane, would be significantly harmful to 
highway and pedestrian safety in this location, culminating in a severe highway impact.  
The application fails to demonstrate that the proposed site access will facilitate the safe 
movement of vehicles, pedestrians and other users of the highway, to the detriment of 
the safety and efficiency of the local highway network contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, 
A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework and in conflict with policies T2 and DM2 of the emerging Rochdale 
Publication Core Strategy.  As such, it is considered that the adverse impacts of the 
proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and consequently 
the proposal does not comprise sustainable development.

The current application differs from the previous submissions in two main areas:

1) Vehicular access to the site is now proposed off Langley Lane as opposed to Hollin 
Lane.  There is no vehicular access proposed from Hollin Lane.

2) The number of residential units has been increased from 88 units to 94 units.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

Page 58



The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in 2013 and hearing sessions were held by 
the Inspector to consider the ‘soundness’ of the plan in October of that year.  Following on from 
these sessions the Inspector asked the Council to provide an update of its Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment in order for him to properly consider the housing issues, including the 
housing target, set out in the plan. This update was carried out and the examination reconvened 
in June 2015 to consider this updated evidence.  The Council has now received a schedule of 
proposed Main Modifications from the Inspector which include recommendations on changes to 
the wording and content of some of the policies in the emerging Core Strategy. The public 
consultation in respect of the Main Modifications has concluded. It is considered that policies not 
affected by proposed modifications can carry significant weight in decision making.  Those 
policies which are subject to proposed modifications are likely to carry less weight at this point 
but may, as modified, have some relevance in the decision making process.  It is anticipated that 
the Core Strategy will be adopted in Autumn 2016.

The following policies contained in the emerging Rochdale Core Strategy are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace

Page 59



G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPD (2016)
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Page 60



Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

PUBLICITY

Site Notice: Major Application, Departure from the Development Plan, Affects a Public Right Of 
Way. Date Displayed: 21st July 2016.

SITE HISTORY

15/00358/OUT - Outline application (including access) for residential development of up to 88 
dwellings with associated works – refused on 22nd September 2015 for the following reasons:

1. The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that 
proposed under application 14/00849/OUT and in close proximity to the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne's Academy, with an existing 
pedestrian crossing at the junction, would be harmful to highway and pedestrian safety in 
this location contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The proposed development, by virtue of the cumulative impact of the additional traffic 
generated by this and other proposed developments in the area, would be detrimental to 
the safe and efficient operation of the highway network and would increase congestion in 
the area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The proposed development would place additional pressure on local infrastructure, 
including schools and sports facilities, which would be unable to accommodate the 
additional demand that would be placed on local infrastructure as a result of additional 
residents and resulting increase in local population arising from the proposed 
development. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, G/4 and G/5 of 
the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework

15/01207/OUT - Outline application (including access) for residential development of up to 88 
dwellings with associated works (Resubmission of 15/00358/OUT) – refused on 8th April 2016 
for the following reason:
 

1. The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in close proximity to the 
junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and thus the access to St Anne's Academy, 
and the pedestrian crossing facilities on Hollin Lane, would be significantly harmful to 
highway and pedestrian safety in this location, culminating in a severe highway impact.  
The application fails to demonstrate that the proposed site access will facilitate the safe 
movement of vehicles, pedestrians and other users of the highway, to the detriment of 
the safety and efficiency of the local highway network contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, 
A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework and in conflict with policies T2 and DM2 of the emerging Rochdale 
Publication Core Strategy.  As such, it is considered that the adverse impacts of the 
proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and consequently 
the proposal does not comprise sustainable development.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - Comments to be reported as an update to the Township planning 
sub-committee.

Highways England: - No comments received.  

Page 61



Strategic Transport Planning: “The principle of development is acceptable in transport policy 
terms and as indicated in the Air Quality Assessment, will not impact significantly on local air 
quality. The Assessment identified specific locations in the vicinity of the site where the NOx air 
quality threshold is exceeded at present due existing traffic levels but the added impact on these 
from this development is negligible. These locations are adjacent to Heywood Old Road and 
Rochdale Road, some distance from the site and the additional traffic generated at those 
locations is insufficient to cause any perceptible deterioration of air quality.  During construction, 
risk of dust soiling from earthworks and trackout however is high, potentially affecting 
surrounding residential areas and the risk is medium during construction. In the light of this, the 
developer will be required to prepare a Dust Management Plan either “stand alone” or as part of 
a wider encompassing Construction Environmental Management Plan to mitigate any Fugitive 
Dust Impacts on nearby residences. The Plan should be consistent with the Institute of Air 
Quality Management (IAQM) document “Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition 
and Construction”.  

A Right of Way (MidRupp114) runs along the western edge of the site. It is anticipated that this 
route will be incorporated into the pedestrian access plans for this proposal as well as for other 
planned developments in the area. It is expected that during and following construction, safe 
pedestrian access will be maintained and the route will be protected from damage. Should any 
damage occur during this period then MidRupp114 should be reinstated to at minimum its 
current condition at the developers expense. Any open space developer contributions should 
finance any identified signing / waymarking or infrastructure improvements to MidRupp114.

There are no air quality or Public Rights of Way grounds that prevent this development from 
being given outline approval, however as part of a positive recommendation, planning 
conditions should be included to:-

Prepare and implement a Dust Management Plan either “stand alone” or as part of a wider 
Construction Environmental Management Plan to mitigate any fugitive dust emissions from the 
site or from the trackout of vehicles travelling to and from the site. Measures in the plan will be 
consistent with those set out in Table 22 on Pages 24-25 of the AQ Quality Assessment 
accompanying the planning application which are taken from the IAQM guidance.

Maintain access to/from and the integrity of the local Rights of Way Network bordering / serving 
the site, particularly MidRupp114, ensuring it is protected from damage during and following the 
development’s construction. If there is damage to the affective Right of Way Network during this 
period, then it should be re-instated at minimum to the existing standard at the developer’s 
expense and to the appropriate specification if it is to be used as pedestrian access to / from the 
development.

Any further local rights of way infrastructure improvements, signing and waymarking 
requirements identified should be funded from any open space developer contributions 
secured.”

Coal Authority: - Comments as follows:
 The application site does not fall with the defined Development High Risk Area and is 

located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. This means that there is 
no requirement under the risk-based approach that has been agreed with the LPA for a 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted or for The Coal Authority to be consulted. 

Page 62



In accordance with the agreed approach to assessing coal mining risks as part of the 
development management process, if this proposal is granted planning permission, it will 
be necessary to include The Coal Authority’s Standing Advice within the Decision Notice 
as an informative note to the applicant in the interests of public health and safety.

Environmental Health: - No comments received.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:

Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not allow 
for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where: 

 The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; 

 It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically 
viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place; or; 

 It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic 
value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or; 

 The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future. 

A Minerals Assessment report has been submitted in support of the application and this 
identifies coal reserves underling the area and that clay has been historically extracted in the 
south of site. No assessment of whether or not the minerals underlying the site are economically 
viable or environmentally sustainable to extract has been provided within the Minerals 
Assessment. 

The applicant has also submitted a Planning Design and Access Statement (dated June 2016) 
which states that Rochdale currently does not have a sufficient housing supply. They argue that 
this development is therefore required to help meet housing demand within Rochdale. 

The applicant is aware of the underlying minerals reserves. They have not however stated their 
intentions with regards to prior extraction as required by Policy 8. As the site in underlain by coal 
you should consult with the Coal Authority, if not already done so. 
The applicant has stated that there is a need for this development to meet housing land supply 
within Rochdale. If the Council is in agreement with this position then they may consider 
permitting the development under bullet point 1 of Policy 8, as the development could be 
considered to outweigh the need for extraction. 

Contaminated Land Officer: - No objection subject to a condition requiring the submission of an 
intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development take place.

Drainage: – In principal I have no comment to make at this point as I do not feel this is developed 
enough for me to consider at this stage.  However, I would like to see permeability tests and the 
introduction of some SUDS elements should the developer wish to continue with the utilisation 
of the existing watercourse.  I would also like to have more knowledge of the watercourse, size 
flow etc and when considered, any calculations appertaining to the discharge of water into this 
stream from the development. It is reasonable to accept that as surface water is contained on 
the surface, the ground is impermeable. This may not be the case for the whole site and the 
concentration of the surface water from the whole site into one watercourse needs to be 
considered carefully.   Developers often make the mistake of applying all surface water into a 
watercourse at one location. As on paper this does not create a problem as these are simply 

Page 63



figures which can be managed to greenfield run off rates. Practicality often means much higher 
velocities, concentration of flows and a detrimental effect on the condition of the watercourse. 

Officer Comment – The drainage officer has confirmed that he is satisfied for these elements to 
be conditioned.  

Environment Agency: - We have no objection in principle to the proposed development, but 
would wish to make the following comments.

We have reviewed the following report with respect to potential risks to controlled waters from 
land contamination.  Potential contamination may be present on the site due to the current and 
historical site use which may be a potential source of contamination to Controlled Waters in the 
vicinity of the site.  We recommend that a Phase 2 Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment 
(including site investigation) is undertaken on the site to investigate and assess the potential 
risks to controlled waters. 
 
Environment Agency position
We consider that planning permission should only be granted to the proposed development as 
submitted if the following planning conditions are included as set out below. Without these 
conditions, the proposed development on this site poses an unacceptable risk to the 
environment. 
 
Condition 1 - To prevent pollution of the water environment and controlled waters.  Development 
shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable 
drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. The scheme shall also include:
 
A sustainable drainage strategy to include SUDS elements with attenuation, storage and 
treatment capacities incorporated as detailed in the CIRIA SUDS Manual (C697).

Infiltration methods on contaminated land carry groundwater pollution risks and may not work in 
areas with a high water table. Where the intention is to dispose to soakaway, these should be 
shown to work through an appropriate assessment carried out under Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) Digest 365. 
 
Condition 2 - No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until a 
remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks associated 
with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local 
planning authority:

1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment of 
the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, 

Page 64



based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements 
for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

Condition 3 - No occupation shall take place until a verification report demonstrating completion 
of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation 
shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall 
include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also 
include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the 
verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented as 
approved.

Condition 4 - If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy 
to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with 
and obtained written approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 109 states that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and 
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels water pollution. Government policy also states that 
planning policies and decisions should ensure that adequate site investigation information, 
prepared by a competent person, is presented (NPPF, paragraph 121).

• Advisory notes:-

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 
Approved Document Part H of the Building Regulations 2000 establishes a hierarchy for surface 
water disposal, which encourages a SUDS approach. Under Approved Document Part H the 
first option for surface water disposal should be the use of SUDS, which encourages infiltration 
such as soakaways or infiltration trenches. In all cases, it should be established that these 
options are feasible, can be adopted and properly maintained and would not lead to any other 
environmental problems.  For example, using soakaways or other infiltration methods on 
contaminated land carries groundwater pollution risks and may not work in areas with a high 
water table. Where the intention is to dispose to soakaway, these should be shown to work 
through an appropriate assessment carried out under Building Research Establishment (BRE) 
Digest 365. Further information on SUDS can be found in; The CIRIA C697 document SUDS 
manual
HR Wallingford SR 666 Use of SUDS in high density developments
CIRIA C635 Designing for exceedance in urban drainage - good practice the Interim Code of 

Page 65



Practice for Sustainable Drainage Systems. The Interim Code of Practice provides advice on 
design, adoption and maintenance issues and a full overview of other technical guidance on 
SUDS.
 
The drainage scheme proposed should provide a sustainable drainage strategy to include 
SUDS elements with attenuation, storage and treatment capacities incorporated as detailed in 
the CIRIA SUDS Manual (C697).
 
Land Contamination
We recommend that the developer undertakes any further works in line with the guidance 
provided within  ‘CLR11 Model Procedures’, ‘Guiding Principles for Land Contamination’ and 
‘Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice’ which are available on our website at the 
following addresses:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/land-contamination-technical-guidance
 
Where deep foundations are proposed we recommend the developer follows the guidance set 
out within our document ‘Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land Affected 
by Contamination’ which is available on our website at the following address:
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140328084622/http://cdn.environment-
agency.gov.uk/scho0501bitt-e-e.pdf
 
Waste to be reused on site 
Excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be re-used on-site under 
the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice. This voluntary Code 
of Practice provides a framework for determining whether or not excavated material arising from 
site during remediation and/or land development works are waste.
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on site operations are 
clear.  If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to 
avoid any delays. 

The Environment Agency recommends that developers should refer to our:
• Position statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice and;
• website at https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency for further 
guidance.
 
United Utilities (UU): - United Utilities will have no objection to the proposed development 
provided that the following conditions are attached to any approval: 

Foul Water

Condition 1 - Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

Surface Water

Condition 2 - Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance 

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/land-contamination-technical-guidance
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140328084622/http:/cdn.environment-agency.gov.uk/scho0501bitt-e-e.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140328084622/http:/cdn.environment-agency.gov.uk/scho0501bitt-e-e.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency


with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 
national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no 
surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. 

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the risk 
of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies within the NPPF and NPPG

The applicant can discuss any of the above with Developer Engineer, Neil O’Brien, by email at 
wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk. 

Management and maintenance of Sustainable Drainage Systems

Regardless of the stage in the planning process, we recommend the Local Planning Authority 
includes a condition in their Decision Notice regarding a management and maintenance regime 
for Sustainable Drainage Systems. We suggest the following condition should be appropriate for 
most instances;

Condition 3 - Prior to the commencement of the development a sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 

a. The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker, or, 
management and maintenance by a Resident’s Management Company; and

b. Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its ongoing maintenance 
of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including mechanical components) 
and will include elements such as ongoing inspections relating to performance and asset 
condition assessments, operation costs, regular maintenance, remedial woks and 
irregular maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout 
its lifetime. 

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in accordance 
with the approved plan.

We recommend the developer also contacts the Local Planning Authority along with the Lead 
Local Flood Authority to discuss surface water drainage as they will ultimately be the decision 
maker on this matter.

Water Comments 

The applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have 
progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with an 
application for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to eliminate the 
risk of contamination to the local water supply. 

Any necessary disconnection or diversion of the private main(s) must have the approval of the 
pipeline owner and be carried out to our standards at the applicant's expense. 

A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. 

Page 67

mailto:wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk


A separate metered supply to each unit will be required at the applicant's expense and all 
internal pipe work must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 1999. 

Should this planning application be approved, the applicant should contact United Utilities on 
03456 723 723 regarding connection to the water mains or public sewers. 

The level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either during or after 
construction. 

General comments 

It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any United 
Utilities' assets and the proposed development. United Utilities offers a fully supported mapping 
service and we recommend the applicant contact our Property Searches Team on 03707 
510101 to obtain maps of the site. 

Due to the public sewer transfer, not all sewers are currently shown on the statutory sewer 
records, if a sewer is discovered during construction; please contact a Building Control Body to 
discuss the matter further. 

Supporting information

United Utilities wishes to draw attention to the following as a means to facilitate sustainable 
development within the region. 

Site drainage 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with foul water 
draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. 

The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when considering a 
surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the following drainage 
options in the following order of priority: 

1. into the ground (infiltration);
2. to a surface water body;
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
4. to a combined sewer.

The comments made in this letter regarding site drainage reflect this approach.

Justification for Pre-commencement condition

In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 Part 6, we have been asked to provide written justification for any pre-
commencement condition we may have recommended to you in respect of surface water 
disposal.

The purpose of the planning system is to help achieve sustainable development. This includes 
securing the most sustainable approach to surface water disposal in accordance with the 
surface water hierarchy. 

It is important to explain that the volume arising from surface water flows can be many times 
greater than the foul flows from the same development.  As a result they have the potential to 
use up a significant volume of capacity in our infrastructure.  If we can avoid and manage 

Page 68



surface water flows entering the public sewer, we are able to significantly manage the impact of 
development on wastewater infrastructure and, in accordance with Paragraph 103 of the NPPF, 
minimise the risk of flooding.  Managing the impact of surface water on wastewater 
infrastructure is also more sustainable as it reduces the pumping and treatment of unnecessary 
surface water and retains important capacity for foul flows.  

As our powers under the Water Industry Act are limited, it is important to ensure explicit control 
over the approach to surface water disposal in any planning permission that you may grant.  

Our reasoning for recommending this as a pre-commencement condition is further justifiable as 
drainage is an early activity in the construction process.  It is in the interest of all stakeholders to 
ensure the approach is agreed before development commences.  

Further information regarding Developer Services and Planning, can be found on our website at 
http://www.unitedutilities.com/builders-developers.aspx.

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
 The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all points 

within the dwellings. 

 The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 
tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

 There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.

 The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 
positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  

 All developers should positively consider the viability of installing domestic sprinkler 
systems.  The access requirements for a dwelling fitted with an approved sprinkler 
system can deviate from the required standard detailed above, further consultation will 
be required.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No comments received.  

Open Space Society: - Object for the following reasons:

- Open spaces would vigorously defend any attempts at loss or closure of any of the 
Public Rights Of Way in this area.

- Loss of amenity for local communities.
- Concern of real access for all (Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and 2005 and Rights of 

Way).
- Maintenance of Public Rights Of Way would be affected by encroachment of boundaries.
- Conservation and biodiversity.
- Adverse visual impacts
- Outdated UDP, Core Strategy not ratified.

Natural England: - Natural England has no comments to make on this application.  
 
The lack of comment from Natural England does not imply that there are no impacts on the 
natural environment, but only that the application is not likely to result in significant impacts on 
statutory designated nature conservation sites or landscapes.  It is for the local planning 

Page 69

http://www.unitedutilities.com/builders-developers.aspx


authority to determine whether or not this application is consistent with national and local 
policies on the natural environment.  Other bodies and individuals may be able to provide 
information and advice on the environmental value of this site and the impacts of the proposal to 
assist the decision making process. We advise LPAs to obtain specialist ecological or other 
environmental advice when determining the environmental impacts of development.

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service: – The application has been submitted 
supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA) prepared by CgMs Consulting. 
The Historic Environment Record for Greater Manchester was consulted in preparing the DBA 
which draws together a variety of historic documentary and cartographic sources, and benefits 
from a site visit. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and documentary 
sources the DBA considers the likelihood that remains of different periods may survive within the 
site boundary. In essence it concludes that apart from the remains of three buildings denoted on 
the 1839/40 Middleton and Hopwood tithe maps there is a low/ nil potential for unknown 
archaeology of earlier periods to survive.  For periods earlier than the earliest mapping (c.1610) 
this conclusion is primarily informed by the presence/ absence of records on the HER. 
Unfortunately it arrives at this conclusion without considering whether or not there has been any 
previous archaeological investigations that would have provided an opportunity for below 
ground remains of earlier historic or prehistoric periods to be identified and recorded. The c.11 
acres of the proposed development area (PDA) consist of six fields in a landscape that is and 
has been in the recent historic past dominated by pasture. Opportunities for identifying earlier 
period artefacts through, for example, collection from ploughed field surfaces have been few 
and far between. It is unsurprising that there are no finds from earlier periods recorded within the 
PDA. Yet it is acknowledged that there are records for prehistoric stone axe hammers (HER 
5030.1.0, 2437.1.0) in the surrounding search area. It is possible that these two records are 
duplicates, and that the most accurate of the two is HER 5030.1.0 as it is closest to Hopwood 
where the discovery was made. HER 5030.1.0 lies about 140m east of the PDA boundary. 

Topographically the PDA occupies an area of relatively level high ground (c.150 – 140m AOD) 
which is surrounded by radiating drainages flowing down to land below c.120m where they join 
Trub Brook to the south and east and Whittle Brook to the north and west. Such relatively 
elevated locations are well understood to have provided a preferred focus for prehistoric and 
possibly early historic activity. For example, the recent discovery of late Mesolithic, Bronze Age 
and Roman evidence at the development at Port Salford came from a defined area of slightly 
higher ground overlooking streams and wetlands. In other words, whilst the known HER content 
may suggest there is a low/ nil chance of prehistoric remains being encountered, this does not 
take into account the lack of any previous fieldwork in the vicinity that would reveal such 
remains. It further ignores the local topographic context in considering where activity of the 
earlier periods might have been focussed. It also underplays the discovery of one or more stone 
axe hammers nearby. 

The DBA concludes that there is some potential for remains of the three post-medieval buildings 
to be encountered in the centre and the south of the site and that some investigation of these 
below ground remains may need to be undertaken as a condition of consent. GMAAS accepts 
these conclusions, but also recommends that a conditioned programme of works should include 
phased evaluation of the PDA using geophysics and trenching to see if earlier remains do 
survive. 

Page 70



To secure the programme of work GMAAS suggests the following wording be used for the 
condition:

No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their successors in title has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works in accordance with a 
Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation 
has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the approved WSI and 
provision made for the completion of all elements of that programme. The WSI shall cover the 
following: 
1. A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to include: 
- geophysical evaluation 
- evaluation trenching i) targeting geophysical anomalies and ii) including targeted evaluation 
trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment and iii) providing an adequate 
spatial sample of the development site. 
- (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and recording 
2. A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
- analysis of the site investigation records and finds 
- production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, architectural and historical 
interest represented.
3. Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site investigation. 
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site investigation. 
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the works set out 
within the approved WSI. 
Reason: In accordance with NPPF Section 12, Paragraph 141 - To record and advance 
understanding of heritage assets impacted on by the development and to make information 
about the archaeological heritage interest publicly accessible. 

The programme of work should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced 
archaeological contractor, funded by the applicant. GMAAS will monitor the implementation of 
the work on behalf of Rochdale MBC.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU):- We have commented on previous applications for 
this site, where no objections on ecological ground were raised.  The original assessment is 
however now becoming dated and our recommended date for a re-assessment of ponds for 
great crested newts has now passed.  This GCN information will need updating prior to 
determination.   An addendum should suffice unless the consultant ecologists believe 
otherwise.

Officer Response – the applicant has submitted a revised ecological assessment and GMEU 
have been re-consulted.  Comments will be reported to Committee as an update. 

Public Rights Of Way – No objection.  Further detail contained in the Officer Report

Rochdale Group of Ramblers: - Object.  The Ramblers, Rochdale Group would object to any 
such application. This is one of the remaining green spaces in the area and has a good rights of 
way network used by locals for exercise and recreation. There are many brown field sites in 
Middleton which should be used. To our knowledge other recent applications to develop land in 
this area have failed and we consider nothing has changed.

Schools Service: - Whilst no comments have been received in respect of the current application, 
Education have asked for the previous comments to be considered in this application.  The 
previous submission15/01207/OUT) included the following comments:

Page 71



 In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, I have considered the school 
place availability for the Middleton Township as a whole, rather than a 2 mile or 3 mile 
walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This is because it 
references our place planning areas, and makes overall sense in meeting school place 
demand. The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional places will be provided to 
meet current projected demand.

 Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for admission in 
2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the Local Authority will 
be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a margin for preference and 
movement. This shows there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of the 
additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

 Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018, above 
those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, parents Diocesan 
Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The proposals for 2016, 2017 and 
2018 are to:
(iii) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 

consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

(iv) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a further 2 
years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review)

 To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with schools, 
parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet approved 
proposals to provide extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period to 2019. These 
places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from September 2016 onwards at 
Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from September 2017 onwards although 
how these will be provided is yet to be determined. This would meet the current expected 
demand, although this will be kept under review

 The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula on the whole development (88 
houses) is 22 primary places (3 per year group) and 9 secondary places (2 per year group) 
applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 3 children per year 
group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also be an expected 2 
children per year group post 16.

 Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in the 
Township for both primary and secondary sectors as follows:  

 For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing primary 
school:  88 dwellings x 0.25 =22 children x £12,320.01 = £271,040.22

 For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools: 88  dwellings x 0.1 =9 children x £15,400.01 = £138,600.09 

Officer Response – The application includes a financial contribution towards primary and 
secondary school places.  The above calculation has been applied to take into consideration 94 
dwellings. 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No comments received.  

GM Crime Prevention - The proposed development should be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the recommendations contained within section 3.3 of the submitted Preliminary 
Crime Impact Statement dated (29/04/2016 – URN: 2016/0272/CIS/01 Version A) and a 
planning condition should be added to reflect the physical security specification listed within 
sections  3 of the appendices within the submitted Preliminary Crime Impact Statement.(Please 
see: www.designforsecurity.org/secured-by-design/   or
www.securedbydesign.com for more information). 

Page 72

http://www.designforsecurity.org/secured-by-design/
http://www.securedbydesign.com/


In summary, our support for this application is dependent on the recommendations made within 
the Preliminary Crime Impact Statement 

Sport England - We note that this planning application is the resubmission of 14/00849/OUT and 
15/01207/OUT. In the Planning Application 14/00849/OUT Sport England commented to the 
Local Planning Authority on the 9th September 2015, that the objection was to be withdrawn 
subject to a suitable level of contribution towards sporting infrastructure is made. Sport England 
also raised no objection to planning application 15/01207/OUT, again subject to S106 
contribution to Sport. 

We note in the Planning, Design and Access Statement (paragraph 4.1) that the applicant is 
willing to make S106 contributions to enhance sport provision. 

The level of the contribution and where it is to be spent is between the applicant and Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough council, but Sport England would refer both the applicants and the council 
to our Sports Facility Calculator as a guide of the level of contributions which could be justifiably 
sought for the various typologies: https://www.activeplacespower.com/reports/sports-facility-
calculator

Sport England, in conjunction with Public Health England, has produced ‘Active Design’ 
(October 2015), a guide to planning new developments that create the right environment to help 
people get more active, more often in the interests of health and wellbeing. The guidance sets 
out ten key principles for ensuring new developments incorporate opportunities for people to 
take part in sport and physical activity. The Active Design principles are aimed at contributing 
towards the Government’s desire for the planning system to promote healthy communities 
through good urban design. Sport England would commend the use of the guidance in the 
master planning process for new residential developments. The document can be downloaded 
via the following link:  

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-
guidance/active-design/ 

Conclusion

This being the case, Sport England offers its support for this this application subject to suitable 
contributions to the sporting infrastructure.

The absence of an objection to this application in the context of the Town and Country Planning 
Acts, does not in any way commit Sport England or any National Governing Body of Sport to 
support any related application funding application.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP 
and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on the site and 
in the local press. A total of 61 letters have been received from individual properties in objection 
to the application.  The letters received are a mix of individual letters and pro-forma type 
responses.

The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised as 
follows:

Page 73

https://www.activeplacespower.com/reports/sports-facility-calculator
https://www.activeplacespower.com/reports/sports-facility-calculator
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design/


Objection

The application doesn’t meet a single one of the key criteria identified in RMBC’s own UDP, 
specifically policy D/10 on the ‘Safeguarding of Protected Open Land’.  There is no proven need 
for this development as the application has declined by over 2000 people according to the 2011 
Census.  There are already 800 houses for sale in the Middleton area.

Developing the land in question will remove its amenity to the Middleton and Heywood 
population who use it for health, recreational and equestrian purposes, contravening the Greater 
Manchester health and wellbeing legislation to which RMBC is a signatory.  Part of that 
legislation mandates that areas of social and urban deprivation, into which Langley and Hollin 
estates fall, are required to be provided with greenspaces for wellbeing and amenity.  
Developing them will remove that ability.

Officer Response

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land.  It is also accepted 
that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land valued by the local 
community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe. However, officers 
are of the view that the harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. As such, there are no 
sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission on these grounds.

A full assessment of housing ‘need’ is detailed in the remained of this report.  However, in short, 
in order to meet housing targets going forwards will require a significant uplift in the current rate 
of delivery of new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will 
be needed to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure 
housing needs are met.

Objection:
The neutral letter states that the pumping station is indicated to be located over a culvert and 
well, which serves Langley Lane Farm and this could be detrimental to the ecology of the farm 
land and water way.  

Officer Response:

The proposed layout is indicative at present as the application is outline with access only - the 
detailed layout is reserved for subsequent approval.  The comments have been provided to the 
applicant and conditions are recommended requiring the submission of a detailed drainage 
scheme prior to commencement.  Any rights and covenants relating to the culvert and well are 
civil matters.  

Objection:
Green Belt land should be protected from developers wanting to make a profit.  There has been 
no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous applications and the dismissal of an 
appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision should be reached. The site performs the 
same function as the Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

Officer Response:
The application site is not located within the Green Belt, but located within an area designated 
as Protected Open Land within the UDP. The role and function of Protected Open Land is not 
the same as the Green Belt, which is protected for its intrinsic permanence and openness. Each 
application will be determined on its own merits having regards to the balance of material 
considerations at that time. Since the appeal that was determined in 1985 there has been a 
significant shift in planning policy through the introduction of the NPPF.  The policy emphasis in 
the NPPF upon the provision of housing to meet objectively assessed needs is a significant 

Page 74



change in national policy and requires local planning authorities to ‘boost significantly’ the 
supply of housing (paragraph 47 of the NPPF) where there has been a record of persistent 
under delivery of housing.  

Objection:
There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The Council’s 
own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 new properties 
throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target without any need to 
build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down by government) to 
construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the borough and is currently the 
only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its building quota. Recent 
applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) have allowed the construction 
of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type proposed are already freely 
available on the market and those already for sale are currently struggling to sell. Therefore, 
there is no justifiable need for further housing within the borough at the present time, and 
certainly not within the countryside.

Officer Response:
The Council has no adopted housing target and as such, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 
year housing land supply. Therefore, the application needs to be determined having regard 
national policy and guidance and all material considerations. Notwithstanding the above, looking 
at the housing target alone also ignores the particular issues faced within the Borough in terms 
of delivery of new homes, and the recent background of removals and demolition of housing as 
part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. Indeed between 2003/4 and 
2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. As a result during the 
period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings 
per year.  The Borough will face an ongoing pressure in terms of delivery against plan targets 
over the next few years given significant number of existing units are planned to be demolished 
as part of the regeneration of existing housing areas.

Objection:
The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, will 
detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will diminish 
the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational and sporting purposes through the loss of 
green pastures and removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including 
removing this benefit for future generations).  The development of this area of Protected Open 
Land would see the effective merging of Middleton and Heywood and an associated 12 mile 
long urban sprawl between Manchester and Bamford. The land has been left open for centuries 
and designated as Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to provide a green buffer 
between the two towns. The release of the land for housing would set a precedent allowing the 
development of additional, adjoining land in the future.

Officer Response:
The application has been supported by landscape and visual impact assessment which 
concludes that following mitigation there would be no over-riding harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding landscape. The Green Belt would be retained to the north, east 
and west of the application site. The purpose of the Green Belt is to prevent the sprawl of towns 
and stop settlements from merging into one another. The purpose and importance of the Green 
Belt in providing valuable open space and preventing the neighbouring settlements of Middleton 
and Heywood from merging would therefore be retained as a result of the proposed 
development. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report the proposed development would not obstruct public 
rights of way or significantly harm their integrity and therefore, it is not considered that the 
proposal would diminish the enjoyment and recreational function of the countryside. The 

Page 75



application as all applications will need to be determined on its merits.

Objection:
The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which are 
protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

Officer Response:
The impact on nature conservation interests has been assessed in more detail in subsequent 
part of the report, and it is noted that the proposals have been accompanied by an updated 
ecological report and the scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
(GMEU) and Natural England the Council’s Green.  Whilst it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in the loss of open fields on the urban fringe of Middleton, it is noted 
that the proposals include a large area of landscaped open space along the boundaries of the 
site that would incorporate replacement ponds, tree planting and landscaping. The proposal 
includes the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries and within the site which act as 
wildlife corridors and it is noted that otherwise the fields comprise species poor semi-improved 
grassland. Subject to conditions securing biodiversity enhancements within the site and 
mitigation measures to minimise impacts on nesting birds, Great Crested Newts and bats, it is 
considered that there would be no over-riding harm to wildlife and nature conservation interests. 

Objection:
My concern is that this application (previously 88 dwellings) has now increased and I don't 
believe that we have the infrastructure to support dwellings of this size. Our roads in the area are 
already heavily congested and prone to accidents. Middleton is the target of House 
Development companies who wish to build on green space to save costs from developing on 
brown space to make more margin/profit. Our landscape is disappearing and along with it the 
animals, birds and insects that live here. The traffic officer needs to complete a comprehensive 
independent survey to assess the risks, as the figures quoted at the last public meeting were 
questionable - just 4 more cars in peak time? Our schools are at full capacity - a fact backed up 
by the educational expert, so the local facilities are not adequate for the needs of all the new 
families coming into the area, should this go ahead. I honestly feel that the council has a 
responsibility to the community it represents and should hold the line previously given and 
refuse this application.

Officer Response:
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Assessment which includes a detailed 
appraisal of the traffic implications of the development along with proposals on adjacent sites. 
The report concludes that that having modelled traffic flows on the surrounding highway network 
and junctions that the surrounding network would still operate within its existing capacity when 
the proposed development on this site and also the adjacent sites would be in use and 
complete. This application has sought to resolve the Council’s objection to the previous 
submissions (15/01207/OUT) by siting the access off Langley Lane as opposed to Hollin Lane.  

It is acknowledged that the proposal would lead to additional pressure on school places and 
therefore, the applicant proposes a financial contribution to the Council so that additional school 
places can be provided.  This calculation is set out in the relevant section of the report.  

Objection:
I can only envisage more Noise, Traffic, etc. should this proposed development go ahead, which 
is contrary to why we settled here some 18 years ago for our retirement when it was relatively 
quiet.

Officer Response:
These issues are addressed in the relevant sections of this report.  

Page 76



Objection
There is insufficient infrastructure to support this development in terms of schools, doctors and 
dentists.  The local roads are beyond capacity at peak periods and this development will only 
add to excessive traffic in an area that does not benefit from the Metrolink system.  The 
proximity of St Annes School increases the risk of a child be injured by increased traffic flow.  
Hollin Lane/Langley lane is used as a short cut from junction 19 when there is congestion at 
junction 18 (2/3 times per week).

Officer Response:
The proposed access is now off Langley Lane and there is no direct conflict with the junction of 
St Anne’s School.  The submitted Transport Assessment has factored in the impact on local 
roads arising from the cumulative impact of this development along with other consented/in 
planning schemes in the area.  This is detailed further in the ‘highways’ section of this report.  

Objection:
It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding and 
whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the additional foul 
and surface water generated by the proposal.  The site already suffers from poor drainage.  The 
water pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result of 
the development.

Officer Response:
The flood risk and drainage implications of the proposed development are considered in more 
detail elsewhere in this report. Nevertheless, the application has been accompanied by a flood 
risk assessment and outline drainage strategy which sets out the existing drainage and flood 
issues within the site. This concludes that the site is at no significant risk of flooding from a 
variety of sources and that to attenuate and manage surface water flows that a network of 
overground water storage and oversized pipes be provided to mimic the existing surface water 
flows of the greenfield site and that this be directed to an existing nearby watercourse in 
accordance with sustainable drainage objectives. It is noted that the Environment Agency, 
United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have raised no objections subject 
to conditions restricting the method of foul and surface water drainage accordingly, and the 
submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water drainage scheme within 
subsequent applications. In order to prevent surface water entering the combined foul sewer a 
condition has been included preventing surface water entering the foul sewer. It is therefore 
considered that there are sufficient measures in place to secure the approval and 
implementation of a foul and surface water drainage scheme that would not result in the 
increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

Objection:
There is little reason and supporting evidence for needless destruction of open countryside. the 
importance is well-documented, along with the Health and environmental benefits. This includes 
important features, and priority species such as Great Crested Newts (these have been 
identified circa 500 meters from the development) Bats (the roosts have not been identified yet 
and therefore in danger of disturbance) Hedgerows which are over 30 years old, and contrary to 
Wain Homes rationale is an important feature and are currently protected. These features 
sustain a multitude of Flora and fauna, including identified priority species This open countryside 
provides links and important corridors to other "green Spaces" This development contradicts the 
Greater Manchester Bio Diversity Action Plan. As previous surveys undertaken on behalf of 
RMBC suggest the importance of these zones and the importance of green open spaces Open 
vistas, which currently all enjoy, will be lost Middleton does not need to lose this buffer zone 
between Heywood I object on the grounds that this area already has protection and should 
continue to be protected for the benefit of the flora and fauna plus the health and well being 
benefits. Rochdale Planning Department indicates that they do have the land available that is 
suitable for housing (circa 11000 plots) that meets the Government current guidelines and 
recommendations. Plus these sites have been offered to developers so I am at a loss to know 

Page 77



why this development has even been considered? In view of this status of the land in question 
(which, is similar to Green Belt) coupled with the Governments latest proposals the Council 
should also refuse the Wain Homes planning application on these grounds

Officer Response:
These issues are addressed in the relevant sections of this officer report.

Objection:
This area of Middleton is home to a range of wildlife. During late commutes home from work, I 
have seen foxes, bats, and even an owl; these plans will have a massive impact on their habitat. 
I find it fascinating that, with all our intelligence and understanding about ecosystems, etc., 
human beings rarely consider other species' needs above our own.

Officer Response:

Response detailed in the ‘ecology’ section of this report.

Objection:
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force of 
public opinion.

Officer Response:
The concerns and objections raised by surrounding residents are appreciated and understood 
and are fully considered in the determination of this application. As also set out elsewhere in this 
report the Local Planning Authority has to determine the planning application in accordance with 
the policies of the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Indeed 
as set out below this is a requirement set out in planning law governing the decision making of 
planning applications. The starting point is therefore the development plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is an important material consideration as are those material 
planning considerations discussed above and raised by objectors.  

ANALYSIS

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to be 
allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was not 
included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north and west 
of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt are not known 
but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban areas of Greater 
Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the permanence of the Green 
Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the future development needs of the 
existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly designated as either Protected Open 
Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of Protected 
Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at that time. It is 
noted that land was released for residential development to the south of Langley Lane (former 
Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of the current St. Anne’s 

Page 78



Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for development in the 1980’s to allow 
for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a commitment 
being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the boundaries of the 
Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 GMGBLP 
with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane and Hollin Lane 
was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land Protection policy (Policy 
C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green Belt.  Since the land in 
question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy was relevant to this site.  
Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt and 
the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will normally 
grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the land were in 
Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 

general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 

outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially 
Policy R/27; and

(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-
(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact on 
the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in connection 
with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will be 
safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all the 
provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of both 
the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these requests the 
Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green Belt: (1) that 
Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open, and (2) 
that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes 
impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The Inspector 
concluded that the addition of these sites to the Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, neither 
was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment development at 
that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of Langley Lane.  On this 
matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

Page 79



The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and Hollin 
Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only slight 
change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed to Open 
Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development proposals 
will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale 

with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
c) a limited extension to an existing building which:

(i) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(ii) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies 

other policies of the Plan; and
(iii)    is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing buildings.  
Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, should be 
sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All buildings and 
extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are compatible with the 
landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and environment of adjacent Green 
Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the size 
of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review of Green 
Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance indicated that such a 
review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and regional guidance, the 
objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient for him to recommend a 
modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector did 
not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of the 
approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this wider 
assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate number of 
residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken forward as it was 
considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the relatively low housing target 
for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during the 
examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination of the 
Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector considered 
requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green Belt. The Inspector 
concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is unnecessary to keep permanently 
open; and the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it 
becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The 
Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt 
was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 

Page 80



future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 1999 
Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently carried 
forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and 
environmental.  

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing 
the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 
creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means that local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet 
the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, 
with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be 
restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay, 

and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore, represents a departure from the development plan, 
specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of 
the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in 

Page 81



the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to 
the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework - the closer the 
policies in the development plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight they 
may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated 
areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. Policy 
H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight in 
the determination of this application.  Policies H/3 and D/10 are also considered to be out of 
date; although they still have some weight in the decision making process because there are 
elements of each policy which still align with the NPPF.

Specifically, policy D/10 relates to ‘Protected Open Land’ and is not considered to be entirely 
consistent with the NPPF given that it attempts to provide blanket protection against most 
development types in a similar fashion to Green Belt policy.  Nevertheless, it appears to 
assimilate with the NPPF in a broad sense as it aims to protect the countryside by ensuring that 
the land is kept permanently open.  One of the core planning principles set out in the NPPF is to 
‘recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside’ which implies that a more 
objective approach should be undertaken when assessing the impact of a development on 
areas of countryside.  The visual impact of the scheme on the open land is covered in more 
detail in the relevant section of this report.  However, it is inevitable that a residential 
development on this scale would result in the loss of a large area of countryside, as well as 
harming the open nature and character of the area.  It can only be concluded in principle terms 
that the scheme would result in conflict with policy D/10 of the UDP and this weighs against the 
scheme.  

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date if the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites’.  It is considered that the lack of a 5 year supply further shifts the 
balance in favour of the scheme in light of the guidance contained in Para 49 of the NPPF, as the 
proposal would contribute to the unmet need for market housing (and in this case an element of 
affordable housing) that arises from the lack of adequate housing supply.  However, this does 
not make ‘out-of-date’ UDP housing policies which have the effect of restricting residential 
development redundant.  Therefore, whilst policy H/3 has the effect of potentially restricting 
residential development on greenfield land which falls outside allocated areas; the remaining 
criteria contained within the policy is compliant with most of the requirements set out in the 
NPPF.  It is should therefore, be attributed weight in the decision making process.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may 
also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the 
degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF 
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 

Page 82



weight that may be given).  

The Council is now at an advanced stage in terms of its Core Strategy with proposed Main 
Modifications to the Plan having recently undergone further public consultation.  The policies 
within this plan, and particularly those which are not the subject of a main modification, may now 
be given significant weight in terms of the decision making process

The Council’s current published five year supply is set out in the 2015 Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) which gives the position as at 1st April 2015.  This SHLAA 
identifies land for housing that could deliver 690 additional dwellings per year in the first five 
years.  

The Council’s housing target will be set out in the adopted Core Strategy.  The Core Strategy 
was submitted for examination in May 2013.  This submitted Core Strategy included a housing 
target of 400 additional homes per year.  An independent Inspector was appointed to hold the 
examination and the hearing sessions took place in October 2013.  Following on from the 
hearing sessions the Inspector sent a letter to the Council on 20th November 2013 which set out 
his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the evidence regarding 
objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the submitted Core Strategy.  
In order to address this issue the Inspector recommended that an update of the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should 
be suspended in order for updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014.  Work on 
updating the SHMA was undertaken with the final SHMA concluding that a figure of 460 
additional homes per year better reflects current evidence on objectively assessed housing 
need.

The Inspector’s full report on the soundness of the Core Strategy has yet to be received.  Should 
the figure of 460 additional homes per year form the revised target, the current five year supply 
demonstrates that there is capacity to deliver 690 additional dwellings per annum in the first five 
years.  Therefore if revised Core Strategy target was to be applied the Council could 
demonstrate a five year supply (5.4 years) of land available to deliver its objectively assessed 
need.  However, as already stated, the housing target has not yet been adopted and it is unclear 
at this stage how the Inspector may deal with undersupply, therefore, it is not considered that the 
Council can demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land at this stage. 

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
parts of the housing policies relating to housing supply targets within the adopted UDP are out-
of-date. In such cases, paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the 
adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate development 
should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land between 
the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy acknowledges 
that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the development of 
protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria within the section are 

Page 83



satisfied.  This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and seeks to reflect the 
guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local Plans are sufficiently 
flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs over the plan period.  At the 
current time it is not clear whether this site would be allocated as Protected Open Land in future 
as the ‘allocations’ plan associated with the Core Strategy has not yet been produced for public 
consultation.  

Accessibility

In respect of accessibility, it is also noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs 
along Langley Lane immediately to the south of the site which provides hourly services into 
Middleton. However, a more frequent bus service is located along Hollin Lane to the east of the 
site. This route provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and Manchester with a 
frequency of a service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one of these services. The 
site is within close proximity of a secondary school, and it is noted that there are a number of 
primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards to other local 
facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin Lane and 
Langley Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located within 
walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of employment, 
leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located within Middleton and 
Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with the regional centre of 
Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard to the above, the 
application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF. 

Conclusion on Principle of Development

The overall conclusion with respect of the principle of development is that the application should 
be assessed against the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF.  The Council at this stage are unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of housing.  When this is considered in context of paragraph 47 of the NPPF, which seeks to 
significantly boost the supply of housing, this is a material consideration in favour of the scheme 
which should attract substantial weight.  Some elements of policies within the UDP relating to 
housing are out of date and therefore, the weight attributed to policy D/10 (Protecting Open 
Land) and H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas) are afforded less weight in 
the decision making process.  Ultimately the acceptance of the scheme depends on whether the 
application is considered to constitute sustainable development, set in context of paragraph 14 
of the NPPF, and this requires an assessment identifying the benefits and dis-benefits of the 
scheme so as to determine whether or not the proposal comprises sustainable development as 
defined by the NPPF.  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local 
planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They 
should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and

Page 84



• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues before 
applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional 
school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the 
Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would generate 
additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should be 
mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within the 
local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional places 
to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has subsequently 
requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for education 
places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education 
facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is considered that the 
provision of such additional education places and facilities would be necessary in order to 
provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable development 
running through the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide 
financial contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. 
The basis for calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary and 
secondary education places has through these discussions been agreed with the Council as 
Education Authority. A more detailed breakdown of the calculation of the necessary financial 
contributions towards mitigating for the education need generated by the proposed development 
is discussed in the planning obligations section of this report.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities 
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Best and 
most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of lesser quality is 
classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5. 

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 3.6 Ha of agricultural 
land most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes.  A survey has been 
undertaken by the applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic 
considerations the land within the site constitutes grade 3B (moderate quality). Therefore, the 
proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, which accords 
with the NPPF and the loss of the moderate quality agricultural land is necessary to secure the 
provision of housing. The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.    

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such 
as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic 

Page 85



uses and community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare 
per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the 
case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to be met through a 
financial contribution towards the laying out (including maintenance) and/or improvement of 
recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational open space are calculated 
on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting 
demand for recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more than 
five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as recreation and 
sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate contributions for open space 
outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further contributions sought would not 
comply with the requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific 
projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the indicative layout 
demonstrates the proposal would provide on-site open space, the detailed layout of which will 
be determined within future reserved matters applications. The provision of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP) within the linear area of public open space would provide formal children’s 
play facilities for the future occupants. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the 
responsibility of the developer and it is intended that a landscape open space implementation 
and management plan would be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
S106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England Sports 
Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports facilities, at 
Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities.  On this 
basis, Sport England offers its support to the proposals.  As such, the proposal includes on and 
off site provision of formal and informal sport and recreation facilities in accordance with the 
NPPF. 

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires that 
the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will be 
required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment, 
and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and accord with the 
best of its surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their surroundings 
and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features which make a 
material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and historic 
significance. 

Page 86



Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

a) Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and 
from the site and surrounding area);

b) Remove incongruous landscape features;
c) Assist the conservation of:

(i) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(ii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or cumulatively) 

to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road patterns, existing 
buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(iii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(iv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(v) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area will 
not be permitted.”

The application site comprises an agricultural field which is bounded to the south and east by 
roads and on the west side by a footpath.  It is a pleasant area of countryside which appears to 
be valued by much of the local community both in terms of aesthetic and recreational value. With 
regards to the character of the wider area, the site sits within the Manchester Pennine Fringe 
national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the north and 
Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury Rochdale and 
Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open moorlands and densely 
populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described as a transition from upland to 
lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided valleys, and with vantage points 
provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater Manchester. This notes that much of 
the countryside has been influenced by recreational use of adjacent urban areas and 
diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe character.

The site lies to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the north leading to 
the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The application site sits 
within an undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows with small farm 
complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is located within what is 
characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character Areas defined in policy NE/6 
of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more domesticated farmscape with occasional 
small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; improved grasslands used for cattle, sheep 
and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses including farming, equestrian, outdoor 
sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) in support of 
the application.  This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during 

Page 87



construction and throughout the lifetime of the development and also considers the cumulative 
impact with the other schemes.  From this it is noted that the proposed development would 
result in effects of negligible to moderate adverse significance. Whilst some of these effects 
would reduce over time to negligible, residents in close proximity to the site and users of the 
local footpath network close to the site would experience the changes with the most adverse 
significance. Distance from the site and the degree of intervening vegetation serves to diminish 
this experience particularly in the context to housing to the south, and east. In many cases views 
of the new housing development will be seen in the context of existing urban features and 
existing housing and so would not, particularly over time, be considered an intrusive feature.  

The allocation of the site as an area of Protected Open Land is not a landscape designation.  
However, the detail contained within policy D/10 does require that any application is not intrusive 
in the landscape. The land is eminently open, particularly to the north and west.  However, in 
this case the impact of the proposed development would be tempered somewhat by a rise in the 
landform to the north of the site and by the location of the site which lies within close proximity of 
existing residential development.  Mid to long distance views would be limited.  However, there 
is little doubt that the local character of the area would be altered to its detriment; visual impacts 
being felt more forcibly within the immediate environs of the site, including the public footpath 
which runs along the western boundary.  It is also important to acknowledge the presence of 
other developments which have been approved in the wider Hollin Lane Masterplan area; again, 
this would increase the presence of housing in the immediate landscape.  

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location just beyond 
the urban fringe, although the development would inevitably change the character of the site, it 
is considered that it would not cause significant over-riding harm to the character, qualities and 
visual aesthetics of the surrounding landscape both individually and cumulatively.  Whilst there 
would be no over-riding harm arising from landscape and visual effects, there would 
nevertheless be some conflict with policy NE/6 given that the proposal involves the urbanisation 
of an otherwise greenfield site. The LVIA reaffirms that the site is open and therefore, the 
proposed development would conflict with policy D/10 of the UDP (albeit that less weight is 
attributed to this policy due to reasons set out in this report).  It would be necessary to ensure 
that the detailed scale, layout and form of the development respond to the context of the site at 
reserved matters stage in order to ensure that landscape and visual effects were appropriate 
mitigated.  The proposal is considered to conflict with paragraph 17 of the NPPF in that it would 
fail to adhere to the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, albeit that the impact would 
be reduced by the proximity of the site to the existing urban grain and the provision of 
appropriate landscaping to mitigate impacts in the long-term.  It is considered that the impact on 
the open countryside should be weighed in the balance in determining whether or not the 
proposal constitutes sustainable development.

Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether:
 the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on the 

nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;
 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
 improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 

the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 

Page 88



refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required alongside 
planning applications where:

a) The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road 
traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to determine 
whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and

b) The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate 
accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from the 
site.

The policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the size 
of a development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what highway 
works and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage parking 
demand, address the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the 
Transport Assessment must support and complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in 
the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a detailed Transport Assessment which considers the 
proposal in isolation and in combination with other permitted developments (15/01195/OUT – 
150 dwelling and 15/01183/OUT – 2015 dwellings), as well as the current application for 65 
residential units on land to the north (16/00444/OUT).  The TA concludes that the local highway 
network would be able to accommodate the proposed development without resulting in a 
residual cumulative ‘severe’ highways impact.

Access:

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

As noted above, this application being outline with all matters reserved other than access, seeks 
permission for the access to the site which is proposed to be provided by a single access off 
Langley Lane which lies to the south. The proposed junction comprises a priority ‘T’ junction.  
The indicative masterplan shows the main access road routing in a northerly direction from 
Langley Lane before forking west and east.  There is provision for an access to the north in 
order to potentially link in with the application for 65 dwellings which is currently under 
consideration (16/00444/OUT).  

It is noted that the site is located within relatively close proximity to junction 19 of the M62 
motorway to the north. Highways England formerly Highways Agency have considered the 
impacts on the strategic road network and have raised no objections subject to a condition 
securing the approval of a travel plan in consultation with the Highways England and its 
subsequent implementation. 

Page 89



Traffic Generation and Network Capacity:

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional traffic 
generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway Network, 
both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with restricted 

mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the development;
c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by traffic 

associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a development 
proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the developer will be 
required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The works required by 
the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

The proposed development is anticipated to generate 58 two way trips during peak and 62 trips 
during the evening peak.  At this stage it is assumed that these movements would take place 
utilising the proposed junction with Langley Lane.  However, it is accepted that movements may 
become dispersed should the scheme to the north come forward (16/00444/OUT) as the site 
would also be accessible from Hollin Lane.

Highways have assessed the impacts of the proposed development in isolation and 
cumulatively with the other developments in the Hollin Lane masterplan area with respect of the 
potential impact on the Hollin Lane/Langley Lane, Langley Lane/Heywood Old Road, Hollin 
Lane/Hazelhurst Drive and the J19 of the M62 junction.  Their comments, including potential 
mitigation, will be reported as an update to the Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee.  

With regards to the specific implications on the important strategic network of the M62 and 
works associated with the South Heywood Strategic site and South Heywood Link Road it is 
also noted from separate analysis undertaken by the Highways Agency, that subject to 
implementation of the wider pinch point scheme of signalisation of junction 19 of the M62 
motorway the proposed development individually and cumulatively could be accommodated 
alongside these other long term strategic objectives.

In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage sustainable 
travel choice a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application and proposes that 
the subsequent development incorporate a number of physical, management based measure to 
minimise travel by private motor-vehicle.  In order to secure this framework travel plan is drawn 
up into a detailed Travel Plan alongside the detailed reserved matters applications for the layout 
and design of the site, a condition has been recommended requiring the reserved matters 
applications to be accompanied by a detailed travel plan. 

Having regard to the above, and subject to the measures set out above being secured by way of 
condition and appropriate contributions by way of a legal agreement that there would be no 
severe impact on the function and safety of the surrounding local and strategic highway network, 
in accordance with the policies set out in the NPPF and saved policies of the UDP.

Page 90



Parking Provision:

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision and 
minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car parking 
provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two spaces per 
dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. 

As the application submitted is in outline no details of the exact parking provision to be provided 
for each has been submitted at this point in time. However, details of parking provision for each 
dwelling will provided in subsequent applications for reserved matters for the detailed 
development of the site. Any scheme would need to come forward in line with the above 
standards set out in the UDP. Nevertheless, in principle given the number of dwellings proposed 
and layout and size of the site it is considered that sufficient parking could be provided on the 
site for the 94 dwellings in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP.

Impact on Public Rights of Way:

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
• The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and implement 
high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

• Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate the 
greater use of these routes by cyclists, horseriders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as waymarking, picnic, interpretation and other 
facilities along the routes.

• In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural interests, 
areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and the character 
and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to the 
scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that proposals 
should ensure:

• Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and buildings, 
well lit and signed as appropriate;

• The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment of 
convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

Page 91



• Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

• Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment and 
the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such 
improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility for 
disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

A number of objections refer to the loss of recreational open land.  Furthermore, PROW 
MidRupp114 lies within the site boundary.  However, the proposal does not include any 
alterations to the existing PROW and the Council’s footpath officer has confirmed that he is 
satisfied with the proposals.  Therefore, whilst a number of concerns relate to the recreational 
value of the site; there are currently no footpaths crossing the site and therefore, the recreational 
value of the site is considered to be limited.  The proposal includes a number of footpath links 
within the site and a link to MidRupp14 to the west and therefore, it is not considered that the 
proposed development would be detrimental to the accessibility of local footpaths or routes.  

As a result, it is considered that the proposed indicative scheme would provide for a safe and 
accessible environment in accordance with the above policies of the UDP and the policy 
objectives set out in the NPPF.  It is not considered to constitute a ‘severe’ highways impact.  

Ecological and Nature Conservation

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on nature 
conservation interests are also protected by a series of legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive stresses the importance of natural 
networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable habitats, and 
promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following (relevant) 
principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest likely 
to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either individually or in 
combination with other developments) should not normally be permitted. Where an 
adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is likely, an exception should 
only be made where the benefits of the development, at this site, clearly outweigh both 
the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site that make it of special 
scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest;

Page 92



• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), national 
(e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of Biological 
Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not adversely affect 
the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and that appropriate 
mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek to 
retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 

areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where required, 

adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current levels of the 
population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate criteria 
for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 
amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

Concerns have been raised regarding the potential impact on protected species including Great 
Crested Newts and Owls.  In respect of the impact on Barn Owls, further clarification has been 
sought from the applicant and GMEU.  This will be reported as an update.

In respect of Great Crested Newts, GMEU have advised that the survey submitted with the 
application is out of date.  Consequently, the applicant has submitted a further survey which 
concludes that the existing ponds are considered to be below average suitability for Great 
Crested Newts.  GMEU have been re-consulted on the application and their comments will be 
reported as an update.

Page 93



In respect of habitat loss, it is considered that the site is of generally low value ecological 
habitats, farmland, with moderate value habitats associated with the hedgerows.   The scale of 
the development is such however that despite the low value of the majority of the site, mitigation 
should be provided in order to comply with guidance within the NPPF (section 109).  This could 
be secured by the imposition of an appropriate planning condition to mitigate the impact.   On 
the basis that GMEU raised no objection to the previous applications (15/01207/OUT and 
15/0058/OUT) and subject to clarification on the points above, it is considered that subsequent 
reserved matters applications and the proposed development overall would ensure that 
adequate mitigation and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that 
the development would not result in significant adverse effects on the nearby Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve (over 1km to the east) and the nature conservation value of the site or the 
favourable conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is 
therefore, considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and 
NE/8, and the policies contained within the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly 
affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper 
written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other 
works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works carried 
out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice. 

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 
amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 

(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field 
boundaries within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. 
Otherwise the site comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted that 
none of the trees within or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree Preservation order. 

The indicative layout demonstrates that trees and hedgerows can be retained in the layout of the 
development.  The Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer raised no objections to the previous 
applications, subject to conditions securing the protection and retention of the existing 
hedgerows and trees to be retained, and the submission and approval of detailed planting plans 
for the site.  The Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer has been re-consulted on this scheme 
and any further comments will be reported as an update.

In the absence of comments from the Green Infrastructure Officer, a condition has been 
recommended requiring a detailed landscaping and planting scheme for the site to be approved 
in writing for the site and, or each phase, including the use of local native species given the sites 
proximity to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and ancient woodland to the east, and the 
enhancement of the tree and hedgerow cover along the boundaries of the site.   

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in the 
loss of important landscape features and through the implementation of a comprehensive tree 

Page 94



planting and landscaping scheme across the site secured in reserved matters applications, it is 
considered that there would be a significant gain in the quantity and spread of trees on the site 
as a result of the proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed 
development would enhance biodiversity and would accord with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:

• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 
buildings.

• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 
pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality 
of life as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of 
conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where would 
lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of 
buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in the Council’s SPD “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” recommend that a minimum separation distance of 21 metres should 
be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 metres 
between principal and secondary elevations.

The site adjoins existing residential dwellings on Hollin Lane, Hollin Drive and Langley Lane.  
Whilst the layout is indicative and would be considered further at reserved matters stage, it is 
considered that in principle the development, subject to appropriate layout, external appearance 
and privacy distances to be determined at reserved matters stage, would not unduly impact on 
the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties.  These properties would experience a 
change in outlook, however it is an established principle in planning law that there is no right to a 
view.  The provision of the access in close proximity of existing properties on Langley Lane is 
not considered detrimental to the amenity of the occupiers of these properties.  There is 
considered to be sufficient space between the new proposed access road and these properties 
to ensure no significant loss of amenity.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPD ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’ and the NPPF.

Page 95



Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and noise 
pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise, the Council’s EHO previously commented that they were satisfied that 
external levels within the gardens would be within acceptable levels.  The EHO previously 
recommended a condition be attached to the permission in order to ensure internal noise levels 
meet required standards.  Subject to this condition, it is considered that the proposed 
development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level of amenity for future occupants 
and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding residents, and occupiers of 
surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this 
application which concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause 
air quality impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and 
from road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 
site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with the 
residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive receptors 
including surrounding residents.  

A condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval of a construction 
management plan to ensure the construction impacts are mitigated. This would also ensure 
appropriate site working hours to protect the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties to 
the south.  

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would not 
result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character and 
openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring the 
submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions the 
proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, would 
not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective receptors by 
way of noise, air quality and light pollution. The proposed development would therefore be in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the 
objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF. 

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which 
aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 is 
the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

Page 96



development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

• Volume control where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the runoff 
volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in the 1 
in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield runoff volume for 
the same event.

UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met:

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water;

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
• It would not result in extensive culverting; and
• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 
in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application 
site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the application has been 
supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  As the site lies in Flood Zone 1, there is no need 
for a sequential test or exception test.  

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. The submitted FRA states 
that the intention of the scheme would be to drain water in a westerly direction past Dingle Farm 
and into the existing watercourse.  The scheme would be drained at a low flow rate in order to 
ensure the watercourse was not overwhelmed by storms or heavy rainfall.  

National guidance (NPPG) states that the aim of drainage scheme should be to discharge run-
off as high up the hierarchy as reasonably practicable:

1 – into the ground (infiltration)
2 – to a surface water body
3 – to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system
4 – to a combined sewer.

The Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted on the scheme and they 
conclude that they require the applicant to undertake permeability tests before they can 
conclude whether or a SUDS technique involving ground water infiltration would be appropriate.  
Based on the evidence in the submitted FRA, the fact that there is evidence of surface water 
within part of the site, and based on the comments received from the Council’s Drainage Officer, 
it appears likely that most of the site would be impermeable and therefore, options utilising on-
site storage may have to be pursued with a limit on discharge to watercourses.  Alternatively, it 
may be that a range of different methods can be implemented on site.  As this is an outline 
planning application, conditions are therefore, recommended to require the submission of 
detailed schemes for the disposal of foul and surface waters, to incorporate attenuation methods 
and flow control devices to limit the discharge rates and sustainable urban drainage system 
(SUDS) measures.  Subject to conditions, it is therefore considered that in principle adequate 
measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable 
risk in terms of flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the 

Page 97



requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act similarly 
requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court of 
Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 
2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed 
or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its 
setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the historic 
environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management publicly 
accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance understanding 
of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner 
proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any 
archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record evidence of our 
past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on the site itself or its 
setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such cases, 
the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 
archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 
secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 

Page 98



applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent to 
the application site. The site being bordered by open fields, and to the south by existing housing.  
The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* listed Hopwood Hall dating back to the 16th 
century and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, which are approximately 950 metres to the 
east. Given the intervening distance and the presence of the substantial amount of mature tree 
coverage at Hopwood Woods and ancient woodland, and the undulating topography, it is noted 
that the proposed development would not impact on the curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor 
would it be visible from these buildings, and nor would they be both visible within the same 
context and setting. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would have no 
impact on the setting of these heritage assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Middleton Town Centre 
Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the south of the application site. 
Given the intervening distance between the site and conservation area and the existing scale 
and variety of built form suburban residential expansion between the northern edge of the 
conservation area and the application site it is not considered that the proposed development 
would impact on its setting, and nor would it impact on the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

It is also noted that the Birch Village Conservation Area is located in excess of 1 km to the west 
of the application site. Given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the open 
farmland, and the context of the conservation area being located on lower ground within a valley 
along Heywood old Road and bordered by mature trees, it is noted that the proposed 
development would not be seen within views of the conservation area and nor would it be seen 
from the conservation area itself. As a result, it is not considered that the proposed development 
would cause any significant impact on the character and appearance or the significance of this 
heritage asset.

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted from 
comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the 
sites location, the surrounding topography, and close proximity to watercourses the site offers 
potential for records of archaeological interest to be found of earlier periods prior to those that 
are contained within the historical environment record. In accordance with the recommendations 
of the GMAAS and in order to ensure that due record and understanding of any archaeological 
remains is undertaken in accordance with paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been 
recommended requiring that an appropriate written scheme of investigation is approved and 
implemented.

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to the conditions set out above, it is 
considered that the proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would not in 
principle cause any harm to nearby heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in 
place to ensure that the importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded. 
The proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, BE17 
of the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:

Page 99



• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or 
impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that:
• Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 

development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and a 
completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with the 
agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or change of 
use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land and will seek 
to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise to significant 
contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields leftover 
for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 environmental 
assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk of contamination. It 
also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface obstructions.  As a result, it 
is noted that there are no risks that in principle would prevent the site from being used for 
residential purposes, and the report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further 
detailed intrusive site investigation and analysis be undertaken. The Council’s Contaminated 
Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, land stability issues which may 
exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of this condition.  
The Environment Agency has requested detailed conditions in respect of groundwater and 
remediation and these are incorporated into the contamination condition accordingly.  

Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation of a 
scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the proposed site 
would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that 
proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not allow 
for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development 
taking place; or;

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; 
or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals 
extraction taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and Brick 
Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result of the nature of the 
proposed residential development would sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may exist 

Page 100



below the site. Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and 
Waste Planning Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable 
and impossible, it is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a 
five year supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have 
raised no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested housing 
land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed with regard 
to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of boosting housing 
provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for the proposed 
development to form up to 94 dwellings would outweigh the need for mineral extraction in this 
case. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would 
accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve and 
assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully incorporated 
into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the amenity of the 
surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental disturbance). 
Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, small-
scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on renewable 
and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings which 
should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The Code for 
Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important material 
consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a material 
change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission on the 
site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard or 
in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement, concerning 
energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of water efficiency. 
In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new dwellings to meet an 
equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, details 
of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of travel for 

Page 101



Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be brought 
forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to date Local 
Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are optional and if 
the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should preferentially be through new 
policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers to a Code which has now been 
revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most appropriate that the sustainability 
requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards affordable 
housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with UDP policies 
H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision of 
Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is important again to note 
that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to the adoption of the UDP and 
SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be afforded to the Core Strategy, it is 
noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure the impact of 
development is mitigated and that development contributes to physical and social infrastructure 
requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 106 
obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a kind 
which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to tariff style 
contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has entered into more 
than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further contributions can be pooled to 
this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the regulations is to encourage 
Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL instead of imposing requirements 
for contributions through section 106 obligations, however it has been acknowledged that the 
pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of infrastructure.  Contributions may therefore 
be sought to specific infrastructure projects if they meet the three tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To ensure 
viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as requirements for 
affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when 
taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to 
a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable. As this 
application is in outline form, any detailed assessment of viability would occur at reserved 
matters stage once the precise number and nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is 
clear that there will be a need to ensure that contribution requirements do not undermine viability 
and deliverability, having regard to site specific requirements and a need to ensure the impacts 
of the development are adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below.  

Page 102



Education Provision:

As noted above, the NPPF in paragraph 70 requires that in decisions Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of community facilities and other local services to 
enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments. Paragraph 72 also 
states that great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand 
for additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is noted that the 
proposed residential development of up to 88 dwellings would generate additional demand for 
primary and secondary school places within the local area. As set out above, due to the lack of 
capacity in the existing primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education 
Authority have requested that by way of financial contributions the proposed development 
mitigates for this additional demand for by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards 
providing additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number of 
dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £298,520.24 (pupil yield of 23.5 (94 x 
0.25) = 23.5) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £144,760.09 (pupil yield of 9.4 pupil places (94 x 0.1) multiplied by the 
basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide additional school places in 
Middleton Township and these contributions are necessary in order to mitigate the effect of the 
additional school place demand arising from these developments.

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the number of 
units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-
being of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for an area of on-site open space on the site. The detailed layout 
of this will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters applications. However, 
with regards to its future maintenance and management, it is intended that a landscape open 
space implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 
Agreement.
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 94 new homes, in terms of formal outdoor sports facilities it is proposed that a 
contribution of £87,341.04 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards the provision 
of improved outdoor sport facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing Fields to the 
southwest of the application site. It is proposed that these would be calculated using the figures 
provided by Sport England and used within their Sports Facility Calculator. This would be 
equivalent of £929.16 per dwelling or £386.86 per person derived from Sport England Sports 
Facility Calculator figures (Sport England correspondence dated 30th June 2015). Utilising the 
Sport England formula, the following financial contributions would be applicable:

Page 103



 £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 94 x £929.16 = £87,341.04; or 
 £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (94 x 2.4) = 225.6 x £386.86 = £87,275.62

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development by 
providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure it is 
directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with the CIL 
Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in accordance with 
a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased manner in accordance 
with the NPPF.  

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD. 

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

It will be necessary to enter into a s106 agreement and a s278 highway act agreement to secure 
a series of on and off-site highway works to ensure necessary improvements and alterations are 
undertaken on the local highway network in accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.  
These are also necessary to ensure the site provides suitable facilities for pedestrians and 
cyclists and provides access to the bus network to encourage the take up of sustainable 
transport modes.  

The following measures of improvement are proposed:

- Provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Langley Lane;

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:

- A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and renewed 

Page 104



on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane 
southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

-
Further mitigation measures will be reported, where appropriate, at the Middleton Planning Sub-
Committee meeting following receipt of comments from Highways.

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

The crux of the matter is whether or not the scheme constitutes sustainable development.  
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF confirms that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  In addition, the NPPF directs that where policies are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless the adverse effects of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

The site lies on an area of protected open land just beyond the established settlement boundary.  
It constitutes a greenfield site which is open and relatively undeveloped.  Whilst having regard to 
the desirability of recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, adverse 
landscape and visual effects would mainly be confined to the immediate environs of the site, 
nevertheless, the character of the land would be detrimentally altered to an extent.  The loss of 
this area of open countryside and the subsequent conflict with policies NE/6 and D/10 weighs 
against the scheme.  However, this would be partially offset by the Council’s lack of five-year 
supply and the provision of up to 94 units of additional housing as advocated by paragraph 47 of 
the NPPF; this provides considerable weight in favour of the scheme.

Whilst the site is not part of a consolidated area of a settlement, is not a significant distance from 
local shops or other services and effectively extends the existing urban area. It represents a 
reasonably sustainable location for new development.

The proposal offers to make contributions towards affordable housing, education and 
recreational open space/green space thus offering a range of social and environmental benefits 
and mitigation.  Furthermore, the impact of the development on the local highway network, 
protected or priority species and nature conservation, the amenity of existing and future 
occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage and contamination could be 
mitigated (subject to appropriate mitigation) and the development would provide on-site open 
space provision for the future occupants of the dwellings. 

Therefore, when balancing the harm that would arise, it is not considered that this would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national 
policy. As such, there are no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.  
Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission subject 
to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act to secure the following: 

(i) The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

(ii) A financial contribution towards the provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development multiplied by the relevant 
basic need funding allocation (currently £298,520.04 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time); 

Page 105



(iii) A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per dwelling) multiplied 
by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £144,760.09 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(iv) A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £87,341.04 but the final calculation shall be based 
on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

(v) A local labour scheme;
(vi) A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); and
(vii) A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site.
(viii) A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising 

new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road.

Report Author Matthew Woodward

_______________________________________________

Page 106



Subject: Car Parking Management – Tesco 
Middleton

Status:  Publication

Report to: Middleton Township Planning Sub 
Committee

Cabinet Member: Councillor Jacqui Beswick 

Date: 3rd August 2016 
 

Report of: Director of Economy 

Author Email:    daniela.ripa@rochdale.gov.uk

Author: Daniela Ripa 

Tel: 01706 924316

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To seek the consent of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee to authorise 
a proposed modification to the Car Parking Management Agreement for Tesco 
Middleton. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1    That Committee authorise the proposed modification to the Car Parking Management 
Agreement. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 Tesco is experiencing issues with car parking capacity at the Middleton store. The car 
park is regularly occupied at capacity due to users overstaying the present free 
parking period and Tesco state this is to the detriment of its trading performance. 

3.2 The management of the car park at the store is the subject of Condition 6 of 
Permission Reference 08/D51405, which relates to the development of the store. The 
condition requires the car park to be maintained and controlled in accordance with the 
Car Parking Management Agreement, which establishes the controls proposed to 
manage car parking at the store.

3.3 The Agreement included provision for Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) 
with 2 hours free parking, and parking charges set at £10 for more than 3 hours 
parking between 8am and 8pm Monday to Saturday and 9am to 5pm on Sunday, 
unless by prior agreement with the Council. 

3.4 Tesco has approached the Council to seek formal agreement to amend the Car Park 
Management Agreement that is referred to in Condition 6 to attempt to address the 
parking issues at the store. Tesco are proposing to increase free parking from 2 hours 
to 3 hours free parking, controlled by ANPR with a Parking Charge Notice of £70 
(reduced to £40 if paid within 14 days) for parking over 3 hours. Tesco consider that 
this arrangement will adequately allow customers to use the store and the town centre 

Page 107



whilst removing pressures on the car park in line with stores in other town centre 
locations.

3.5 The proposed increase to three hours free parking would bring this in line with the 
Council’s own car parking arrangements, which equally offer three hours free parking 
with contravention charges set at £70 for more serious contraventions and £50.00 for 
less serious contraventions (reduced to £35 and £25 respectively if paid within 14 
days). Members’ initial views are sought on the above in advance of any report being 
presented to a committee for formal decision.

4. SUMMARY

4.1 The proposed modification to the Car Parking Management Agreement for Tesco 
Middleton will serve to update the car parking management arrangements and may 
alleviate the car parking capacity issues presently affecting the Middleton store. The 
proposed three hours free parking would be consistent with the Council’s car parking 
arrangements in town centre. 

Page 108


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	3 Submitted Planning Applications
	Middleton additional agenda report


